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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I am Eva

          3  Moskowitz, Chair of the Education Committee, and I'm

          4  going to bring this meeting to order.

          5                 We are here this morning to conduct

          6  an oversight hearing on arts education in the New

          7  York City school system.

          8                 This is my third hearing on Arts in

          9  Education, as Chair of the Education Committee, and

         10  one of the reasons that this is the third hearing is

         11  because of the Committee's belief in the inherent

         12  importance of arts education.

         13                 And when I say arts education, I mean

         14  all of the arts - visual, drama, dance, music.

         15                 We also need to have this hearing,

         16  not only because arts education is inherently

         17  important and I say that as mother of three

         18  children, a public school parent myself, a former

         19  teacher, but I think it's important to really do

         20  oversight, because unlike some of the other

         21  subjects, it's harder to know whether the New York

         22  City school system is offering quality arts

         23  education, or to put it slightly differently, with

         24  literacy and math and science there are tests, and

         25  however imperfect those tests are, and we know that
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          2  they are clearly imperfect, no good teacher

          3  substitutes the testing regime for a good education,

          4  there are at least some measure of how well we're

          5  performing.

          6                 Whereas, in the area of arts, it's

          7  much more difficult for the public, for parents, for

          8  taxpayers, and perhaps one would argue for the

          9  Department itself, to evaluate do we have good arts

         10  education or do we perhaps have a lot of lousy arts

         11  education.

         12                 And, so, part of the reason we're

         13  having this hearing is to hear from the Department

         14  what constitutes quality, how do they know that

         15  they've got it, what are they doing to ensure that

         16  they have it. Partly perhaps that's a question of

         17  funding, but, clearly, it's not only a question of

         18  funding, and so we want to know not only that we're

         19  doing arts education and kids are exposed to art,

         20  but that it is of an excellent quality. And, so,

         21  that is the purpose of today's hearing.

         22                 For those of you who are involved in

         23  this, probably know more about it than I do, we've

         24  had a number of iterations of what is happening in

         25  New York City. The Department began with the
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          2  blueprint for arts, which we focused on to some

          3  extent at the last arts hearing and we were

          4  fortunate then to have Sharon Dunn, and she's with

          5  us today.

          6                 My understanding is, and I haven't

          7  looked at these, since I just received them five

          8  minutes ago, but that you now, this didn't include

          9  dance and -- is there another one? I thought there

         10  were two. And theater.

         11                 So, now the Department has produced

         12  two additional ones. I did take a minute to flip

         13  through them and I noted these seemed more

         14  comprehensive than the initial one, seemed much more

         15  detailed to me, and, so, we'd be interested to know

         16  if you've rethought the goals in the meaning of

         17  these particular books.

         18                 At the last hearing this, I believe,

         19  had just been released. The Department has a habit

         20  of releasing things right before our hearings. But I

         21  believe this had just been released, and it had not

         22  been implemented in any way and you had a whole --

         23  the Department had a whole plan for implementing the

         24  blueprint, and, of course, producing the two

         25  additional ones. At that time, I don't think you had
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          2  your full panoply of senior people in all four art

          3  forms, as it were, and I believe I just met your two

          4  new additions in dance and in theatre, so welcome.

          5  And we're glad that you're on board.

          6                 I should also say, just for us and

          7  the public at large, that we have a number of

          8  handouts that I want to call to your attention. This

          9  one is called what teachers say about art and art

         10  supplies, and this is extremely instructive and I

         11  would urge you to take a look at this. It's quite

         12  heart-breaking when teachers are saying that the

         13  music teacher, they just arrived, "I've just been

         14  assigned --" I'll just read you one of these quotes.

         15                 "I've just been assigned to teach

         16  music at a low-income multi-cultural elementary

         17  school in the Bronx. After seeing my classroom for

         18  the first time, I was shocked and discouraged to see

         19  that not only did my large classroom fail to have a

         20  curriculum, but it also had no instruments.

         21                 I'd love for my students to

         22  experience this architectural jewel which resides

         23  less than a mile south of my school on Museum Mile.

         24  Due to the financial hardships of my students and

         25  their families, visiting the Guggenheim Museum on
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          2  Sunday afternoon is just not possible."

          3                 Another teacher says, "I'm teaching

          4  art from a cart, because I travel from room to room.

          5  There's little or no space to leave works of art to

          6  dry, so I have not yet used paint, glue, et cetera."

          7  That's MS 577 in Brooklyn.

          8                 These are from a website called

          9  Donors Choose, and Craig's List, where teachers

         10  often post things that they need for their

         11  classroom. And if you want to cry I suggest that you

         12  go onto that website and see what teachers are in

         13  need of.

         14                 We also have a fact sheet about arts

         15  education in New York City. And as always, we

         16  reproduce the questions that the Committee asked the

         17  Department and their answers.

         18                 Since I usually begin my hearings by

         19  criticizing the Department of Education, for giving

         20  us the answers to our requests the night before,

         21  making it an absolute certainty that my staff stays

         22  til 1:00 a.m. in the morning finishing them. And

         23  that, unfortunately, was the case, again, we did get

         24  these on a Friday night at 6:00, to the Department's

         25  credit, this is the best set of answers this
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          2  Committee has ever received from the Department. And

          3  we are going on over 100 hearings.

          4                 So, Dr. Dunn, that is a compliment to

          5  you and your staff, and we are very, very

          6  appreciative.

          7                 And not only is it helpful for public

          8  information, but I have always maintained that if

          9  you can answer these questions, that someone is

         10  minding the store, and if you don't have any idea

         11  how many art teachers you have, or how many schools

         12  don't have a dance studio, or how much money you're

         13  spending on art education and what you're spending

         14  your money on, I would think it would be very hard

         15  to manage the process. And, so, I would hope that

         16  all subject matters would follow in your footsteps.

         17                 In other words, science should know,

         18  they should know how many science labs they have,

         19  and how many qualified science teachers, how many of

         20  them have master's degrees, how many of them don't,

         21  how many of the certified, how many of them don't.

         22                 It's not that that's going to produce

         23  quality, but we can't hope to produce quality if we

         24  don't know what we've got, when we've got it, how

         25  much it costs. And I want to make sure that Dr. Dunn
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          2  knows and her staff how appreciative we are that

          3  these answers are very, very concrete, very helpful,

          4  and we're very grateful, and I want to make sure the

          5  Committee members take a very close look at the

          6  answers, because I think it will be very evident

          7  when you've done this as many times as we have that

          8  this is an excellent job. And we have not seen this

          9  to date. So, we're hoping that you're starting a new

         10  trend at the Department of Ed, and your colleagues

         11  are going to follow suit.

         12                 Without further ado, there's one more

         13  announcement I have to make, and that is, we will be

         14  interrupting the Committee hearing to take a vote on

         15  three bills this morning, as soon as we get a

         16  quorum. So, I apologize in advance that we will have

         17  to interrupt the hearing, but these are three

         18  important bills that we must vote on.

         19                 So, please, Dr. Dunn, join us and

         20  anyone you wish to be with you. Let me just say

         21  we've been joined from Council Member Jackson from

         22  Manhattan, Council Member John Liu from Queens, and

         23  Councilman Domenic Recchia, who I should also

         24  mention, is the chair of the Cultural Affairs

         25  Committee. Thank you, everyone, for being here this
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          2  morning.

          3                 Dr. Dunn, if you will please state

          4  your name for the record, and then begin when you

          5  are ready.

          6                 The light has to be off for the

          7  microphone to be on.

          8                 It's counter-intuitive.

          9                 DR. DUNN: Got it. Thank you.

         10                 Okay, good morning, Chair Moskowitz,

         11  and members of the Education Committee.

         12                 My name is Dr. Sharon Dunn, and I am

         13  a senior instructional manager for Arts Education at

         14  the New York City Department of Education. And I

         15  thank you for this opportunity to update you on arts

         16  education in our schools.

         17                 Arts education in our New York City

         18  public schools has made great strides forward in the

         19  past several years. This Administration, with

         20  leadership from the Mayor, Chancellor Klein and

         21  Deputy Chancellor Carmen Farina has made arts

         22  education a priority, has recognized that the arts

         23  are an essential element of every child's education,

         24  and is working to provide the arts in every school.

         25                 This is an unprecedented commitment
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          2  to equity across the system, as we work to ensure

          3  that every child has access to a high quality arts

          4  education. In order to achieve this important goal,

          5  major steps have been taken by the Chancellor and

          6  Deputy Chancellor.

          7                 First, funding has been maintained

          8  through Project Arts offering every school dedicated

          9  per capita funding to supplement and enhance arts

         10  education.

         11                 This systemwide commitment ensures

         12  that every school has dedicated money for the arts

         13  that cannot be used for any other purpose.

         14                 These funds allow schools to

         15  contribute toward the cost of an additional

         16  certified teacher, purchase resource materials and

         17  equipment, attend performances and exhibitions or

         18  utilize the services or arts organizations and

         19  cultural institutions to advance arts learning from

         20  pre-K to 12. It is the first time these funds are a

         21  line item in each school's budget and are dedicated

         22  to arts education.

         23                 We are holding schools accountable,

         24  therefore, for arts spending.

         25                 Together, these important advances
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          2  guarantee that we are moving toward equity and

          3  increased access to arts education for all students

          4  Citywide.

          5                 The Office of Arts and Special

          6  Projects is now able to fully support the

          7  development of curriculum and training for teachers

          8  in visual art, dance, music and theater, under the

          9  direction of four highly-qualified directors, one

         10  for each art form.

         11                 These directors, along with their

         12  partners from the cultural community, have developed

         13  blueprints for teaching and learning in the arts,

         14  pre-k to 12, which is perhaps the most significant

         15  advance in arts education in our City in decades.

         16                 These blueprints are a rich and

         17  comprehensive foundation upon which instructional

         18  programs can be built. They provide a coherent,

         19  high-quality basis for arts education to every

         20  school in our City.

         21                 The blueprints have been introduced

         22  to arts teachers Citywide through an ongoing program

         23  of professional development, which has been designed

         24  centrally and implemented both at the regional and

         25  central, and at Citywide levels.
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          2                 To date, more than 2,000 teachers and

          3  hundreds of school and regional leaders have

          4  participated in multiple opportunities to increase

          5  their skills, deepen their knowledge and broaden

          6  their understanding of these art forms for the

          7  benefit of their students.

          8                 They not only provide teachers with a

          9  path to follow that helps them determine the work

         10  they should be doing in each art form, they also

         11  indicate what children should know and be able to do

         12  in the arts at critical junctures in their

         13  intellectual, physical and emotional development.

         14                 The blueprints provide school

         15  administrators with tools to appropriate supervise

         16  arts teachers, as well as to recognize and share

         17  with parents the potential their children have for

         18  achievement in the arts.

         19                 The Department's invigorated

         20  commitment to arts education has occasioned generous

         21  support from the cultural and foundation community,

         22  an unprecedented level of coordination and

         23  partnership with non-profit and arts organizations.

         24                 With the assistance of funds for

         25  public schools, over $3 million has been raised to
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          2  support and advance education in each art form.

          3                 In addition to this direct support,

          4  in the form of financial assistance, the cultural

          5  community has provided countless in-kind hours of

          6  professional expertise in writing these blueprints,

          7  and in designing and implementing the training for

          8  the teachers.

          9                 A full list of our partners is

         10  available in the attachment sheet provided you, and

         11  also in the blueprints themselves.

         12                 One of the areas identified as most

         13  in need of development is the need to acquaint

         14  school administrators with the benefits and elements

         15  of arts education.

         16                 Toward that end, the Mayor's

         17  Commission on Arts and Culture, under the auspices

         18  of the Department of Cultural Affairs instituted a

         19  cultural pass program for school leaders, with

         20  generous funding from Bank of America school,

         21  principles original leaders have been invited to a

         22  series of events to become familiar with the arts

         23  and cultural institutions across the City in every

         24  borough.

         25                 These events provide opportunities
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          2  for school leaders to learn about arts education,

          3  and the community resources that illuminate the

          4  educational experience for their students.

          5                 All participants receive a cultural

          6  pass, which gives them free entry to many of the

          7  most renown cultural institutions in this City.

          8                 For the past ten years we have worked

          9  with our partners in the cultural community,

         10  particularly the Center for Arts Education, to

         11  develop model sites for arts education that can be

         12  replicated in communities across the City.

         13                 We have learned a great deal from

         14  this work and look forward to continuing throughout

         15  the school year and beyond.

         16                 Through this effort, we have come to

         17  recognize the challenges that some of our schools

         18  face in scheduling or delivering a complete arts

         19  curriculum within the confines of a traditional

         20  school day.

         21                 As this year unfolds, and with the

         22  help of this center and others, we plan to work

         23  region-by-region, helping school leaders examine

         24  their instructional programs, to see how they might

         25  be expanded and developed to assure high quality
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          2  arts education for all students.

          3                 For the first time, all of our

          4  students have equal access to a quality, a

          5  high-quality arts education that heretofore had only

          6  been available to a few.

          7                 The blueprints address learning as a

          8  sequential continuum that when taught properly can

          9  lead students toward a career path in the arts that

         10  has long been denied our students because the lack

         11  of appropriate education and training.

         12                 The blueprints are the embodiment of

         13  a deep commitment on the part of this Mayor,

         14  Chancellor, and school system to providing

         15  high-quality arts education for all of our students

         16  so that all students have the opportunity for

         17  lifelong learning, and enjoyment in the arts,

         18  something each of us treasures in our own individual

         19  way.

         20                 Thank you. And I'll be happy to

         21  answer your questions at this time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you, Dr.

         23  Dunn.

         24                 Let me start with sort of some broad

         25  questions.
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          2                 You described the blueprint in a

          3  variety of ways. It's not a curriculum, correct?

          4                 DR. DUNN: It's a blueprint for

          5  curriculum, that's right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's a

          7  blueprint for the curriculum. So, it's raw goals,

          8  rather than the specifics of what need to be taught?

          9  For us non-in-the-know educators?

         10                 DR. DUNN: They are a little narrower

         11  than broad goals, but it identifies a different

         12  point in a child's development, what they should

         13  know and be able to do by the time they're in second

         14  grade, meaning what they should be learning from

         15  pre-K, K, first and second grade, what they should

         16  know by fifth grade, by eighth grade and by 12th

         17  grade.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But it seems a

         19  little more skill-based than what they should know.

         20  They should be able to do?

         21                 DR. DUNN: It is both, skill-based and

         22  it is also knowledge-based, what they should know

         23  and be able to do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't want

         25  to spend too much time, but if you look at, for
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          2  example, grade 8 benchmarks, it says, "Looking and

          3  discussing art.""Examine a work of art over an

          4  extended period of time. Keep the record of

          5  observations as evidence of the way a viewer's

          6  perception deepen over time. Use notes as a basis of

          7  discussion."

          8                 I guess I'm trying to imagine the

          9  eighth grade art teacher. Are we assuming that he or

         10  she doesn't know this and that's why we need this?

         11  Because it seems pretty basic and self evident that

         12  one should be able to look at art and make

         13  observations about it. I'm wondering why do we need

         14  a blueprint to tell us that?

         15                 DR. DUNN: Well, first of all, the

         16  blueprint is built around five strands. It's not

         17  just about looking at art, it's also art making.

         18  It's literacy in the art form, which is I believe

         19  where you're looking right now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Correct.

         21                 DR. DUNN: It is making connections to

         22  other disciplines. It is using cultural and

         23  community resources to inform your work, and also

         24  careers and life-long learning, understanding that

         25  you might become a curator, as you learn to look at
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          2  art and find that you have a passion for it, there's

          3  actually a place at the end of this path you can

          4  earn a living.

          5                 The important thing is to help

          6  teachers of the subject recognize the depth and the

          7  roundness of it, that traditionally -- and I was an

          8  art teacher for many years and did not have the

          9  benefit of this resource, I was focusing on

         10  art-making. We talked about different kinds of art,

         11  we did look at art. I never had the kind of

         12  comprehensive view of what my teaching should

         13  entail, and therefore what my students should be

         14  learning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, this is a

         16  more holistic --

         17                 DR. DUNN: Without question.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Explanation of

         19  the goals --

         20                 DR. DUNN: A guidepost, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: -- The goals

         22  of art educators in K through 12; is that an

         23  accurate description?

         24                 DR. DUNN: I think so, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And who
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          2  is this for? Is this for teachers, for principals,

          3  for everybody?

          4                 Is every employee supposed to be

          5  looking at this, or --

          6                 DR. DUNN: If you look in the back of

          7  the book we actually have appendices what the

          8  blueprint means for teachers, what it means for

          9  principals, for school leaders, what it means for

         10  the university community, what it means for the

         11  cultural community, what it means for parents.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You want

         13  everyone to read it.

         14                 DR. DUNN: We want everyone to

         15  recognize that arts education is not just about

         16  giving the kids a chance to make a picture, that

         17  there is a great deal of knowledge and a great many

         18  skills attached to this that people need to be

         19  thinking, as you said, holistically, in order to

         20  teach it properly.

         21                 And also to supervise it properly. If

         22  a principal has a tendency to go into a band room,

         23  and the teacher is rehearsing the children for the

         24  concert, and that is the basis of the music work, we

         25  feel that that's not sufficient. Actually, we know
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          2  that that's not sufficient. It doesn't meet

          3  standards. We really know that just preparing

          4  students for a concert is only addressing music

          5  making and is not helping students learn the depth

          6  and breath of the world of music, which they are

          7  entitled to learn.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, ideally

          9  you'd like them to have some sense of the history,

         10  historical context?

         11                 DR. DUNN: Historical context, the

         12  social context, when contemporary work --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, this seems

         14  like a very tall order, given what's happening in

         15  New York City schools.

         16                 I mean, we barely have schools that

         17  have bands, let alone kind of an art historical

         18  approach to art or music making.

         19                 DR. DUNN: Well, with all due respect,

         20  to say that we don't have enough of it, doesn't mean

         21  that we should do it poorly.

         22                 You know, wherever it is being

         23  taught, and wherever it will be instituted, we now

         24  have a baseline that is a very high mark. It tells

         25  teachers what they need to do and work with teachers
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          2  to train them in this way.

          3                 And, frankly, what we have found as

          4  we go around is that those teachers who are

          5  delivering high quality instruction are already

          6  working in this way.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So this is for

          8  the people who are not?

          9                 DR. DUNN: Well, it also underscores

         10  and reinforces the work of those talented teachers

         11  who do this as a natural part of their work. But

         12  also is the result of a collaboration of master

         13  teachers and master teaching artists and members of

         14  the arts community, bringing to bear what they all

         15  believe is what children should be able to do and

         16  understand in learning these subjects.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I want to move

         18  to the quality of arts education.

         19                 You know, I taught Social Studies, so

         20  this is not my particular field, looking at this it

         21  looked very pretty and it looked thoughtful. Made me

         22  a little nervous about the use value of it. When I

         23  look at this and I look at the several hundred

         24  public schools I've been to, it seems like a casm

         25  that is a little overwhelming. But leaving that
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          2  aside, do you understand my point? It just seems

          3  incredibly ambitious, and I'm all for being

          4  ambitious, but given, you know, the fact that

          5  there's chaos in many of our schools, it just

          6  doesn't, it seems like I'll have grand grandchildren

          7  before we'll have this implemented. That's my

          8  concern.

          9                 But do you want to respond?

         10                 DR. DUNN: I do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 DR. DUNN: We've had about a year and

         13  a half now. The blueprint for music and art, those

         14  were introduced in June of 2004, and we've done

         15  training ongoing all year within the regions,

         16  developed centrally, and we see an enormous

         17  difference in the quality of the visual art work,

         18  and the quality of the work going on in the music

         19  classrooms.

         20                 And it is an ongoing effort to work

         21  with teachers. The teachers are working within their

         22  regions as peers, taught working with each other,

         23  developing each other.

         24                 We have an annual exhibition called

         25  PSR, which is held in the Tweed rotunda, and this

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  year's submissions were so deeply-- the blueprint

          3  work was so deeply imbedded in the work that we saw,

          4  there was a wider range of mediums, for example. We

          5  generally get painting and drawing. We had

          6  print-making, we had collage, we had sculpture, we

          7  had video. We had a very wide range of material, and

          8  the work was at a higher level. The judges had a

          9  very hard time distilling it to the 60 pieces that

         10  were the final work.

         11                 We go around the school system and we

         12  see evidence of the training on the walls of the

         13  schools. This is not something that will happen

         14  overnight. We have set the bar very high,

         15  absolutely. But the teachers appreciate that and

         16  recognize that.

         17                 I notice in the materials that you

         18  distributed, and downloading these things from the

         19  Donors Choose, it is distressing to see what

         20  teachers need, and you know, we addressed some of

         21  that in our answers to you, but we also don't see a

         22  reference here to asking the teachers are you using

         23  the blueprint? Are you finding that it's helping

         24  your teaching?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'd love that,
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          2  if you could get us that material.

          3                 Do you have access to information

          4  about how many teachers are using the blueprint?

          5                 DR. DUNN: We have evaluations. And we

          6  have, I think some of the data we've given you here

          7  show us --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You tell us

          9  how many people have been trained, but that's

         10  different than how many people are actually using it

         11  and in what qualitative ways they're using it. We

         12  have no way of knowing that.

         13                 I'm all for, you know, my approach to

         14  these hearings is to talk about the good, the bad

         15  and the ugly. And, you know, if you have excellent

         16  examples -- we actually tried, and I think there was

         17  a little bit of a problem, we wanted to, if you

         18  remember, at the last hearing we had students

         19  performing. We were supposed to have student artwork

         20  displayed actually today in an effort ourselves to

         21  show what incredible things kids are doing and so

         22  forth.

         23                 DR. DUNN: We'll send you some

         24  follow-up information on that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, great.
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          2                 Let's get to this question of

          3  quality. Could you describe for me, let's say we

          4  went into a, and I'm going to ask you this for a

          5  couple of different grade levels, let's pick second

          6  grade. And I have to explain my bias. I have a

          7  second grader at PS 290, so I have some sense of

          8  what second graders do. He's in second grade

          9  already. Yes. That was quick, I know. He's going off

         10  to college. In fact, he sometimes acts like he's in

         11  college already, but...

         12                 Let's pick second grade, eighth grade

         13  and eleventh grade, and my question is: Can you

         14  describe for me what you would see -- and let's

         15  assume a school has an art teacher, and an art room

         16  -- can you describe to me what you would see if you

         17  were seeing excellent education going on in that

         18  second grade classroom, and what would be a lousy,

         19  where you would say I don't want to send my kid to

         20  that school because the art education inadequate?

         21  And can you do that for second grade, seventh grade

         22  and eleventh grade?

         23                 DR. DUNN: You don't want eighth

         24  grade, you want seventh grade?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, I'm sorry.
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          2  Eighth grade. Sorry, eighth grade.

          3                 DR. DUNN: I'm going to try.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          5                 DR. DUNN: So, with the second grade,

          6  and let's just talk about painting, all right?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And you're

          8  giving me excellent or lousy first?

          9                 DR. DUNN: I'm going to give you

         10  excellent.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ okay.

         12                 DR. DUNN: In an excellent classroom

         13  where children are in an art room, where children

         14  are learning to paint, there are several things that

         15  you want to talk about, especially if you're looking

         16  across the five strands. And, so, children would be

         17  working with the medium of paint. They might be

         18  working with temper, with water color. They might be

         19  working with inks and -- well, painting, I don't

         20  know if you would paint with ink.

         21                 But anyway, so they're working with

         22  temper paint and they're learning at second grade to

         23  handle, to hold a brush properly, to handle, to mix

         24  the colors, to use the color and value to think

         25  about color versus tint. They would at that point be

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  able to identify primary and secondary colors, for

          3  example, they should be by second grade. They should

          4  be able to create a composition based on

          5  observational sketches.

          6                 In other words, let's say they're

          7  doing a neighborhood painting, and I think this is

          8  something referenced in the blueprint, the students

          9  would go on a neighborhood walk, they would have a

         10  discussion about what they see, they would identify

         11  elements and then they would make some sketches,

         12  perhaps write some words that symbolize what they

         13  want to bring back to create their work.

         14                 They would do a painting, not in 45

         15  minutes, but over time. They would talk with each

         16  other about the kinds of elements, placing the

         17  elements in their pictures, their choice of colors.

         18  They would look at work by artists that represented

         19  City scenes, neighborhood scenes, perhaps looking at

         20  rural scenes, versus city scenes, then they would

         21  have a discussion around the elements of the work

         22  and how it reflected what they have seen, and how it

         23  might contrast or compare to what might be seen in

         24  another community.

         25                 By the time they would get to eighth
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          2  grade, the student would --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wait. Wait.

          4  Could we go to the lousy one?

          5                 DR. DUNN: To the lousy?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So I can keep

          7  it in my mind. That's the excellent.

          8                 DR. DUNN: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What's the

         10  lousy?

         11                 DR. DUNN: The lousy is that everybody

         12  gets a picture of the city and a box of crayons and

         13  they're asked to color it in. So there's no

         14  creativity, no originality, no recognition. They're

         15  not even getting something to color in. They're

         16  asked to draw their neighborhood. They've never gone

         17  outside to look. They've never discussed what they

         18  see. They've never noticed texture in the bricks and

         19  the bark of the trees. Never thought about how the

         20  horizon line is showing when you look straight down,

         21  or the perspective, how do you show something close

         22  up, how do you show something further away? They're

         23  just giving you whatever comes out of their head on

         24  the paper. That's lousy.

         25                 What's good is that children are
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          2  looking, thinking, talking about their work, and

          3  what they create is thoughtful and the result of a

          4  collection of experiences, rather than something

          5  that happens in 45 minutes, is over, and tomorrow we

          6  do collage.

          7                 So, it's work over time that is

          8  developed. By the time a student gets to eighth

          9  grade, hopefully he's keeping an art journal. He's

         10  collecting images. He's making a very serious

         11  decision about how he wants to place things, what

         12  kind of message he wants to state. He might be

         13  wanting to express some social issues in that

         14  painting. Noticing that there are some people

         15  hanging out on the stoop. Why are they hanging out

         16  on the stoop? Noticing that a store went out of

         17  business, what happened here? Thinking about how he

         18  might express it. What colors would you use to

         19  express a mood or a feeling. There's real thought

         20  going into it and children are using equipment,

         21  using materials appropriately, working from one

         22  lesson to the next. They're not finishing each time

         23  and then starting something new.

         24                 At 11th grade, the student in 11th

         25  grade is a student who is pursuing an interest in
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          2  art.

          3                 Generally we ask that the required

          4  art course be given in the ninth grade, so students

          5  with an interest will have the ability to pursue a

          6  sequence. So, by 11th grade, this student is really

          7  a serious art student, should have a collection of

          8  work, a portfolio of work, he might have a series of

          9  city scapes, he might be using photography, he might

         10  not just be doing painting anymore. He might be

         11  building something three dimensional. He might be

         12  making a colograph (sic) out of it. The point is

         13  that he has learned to use many tools and many

         14  techniques. He has many ideas about what he wants to

         15  express, and the voice of the student is apparent in

         16  the work.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Now, in your

         18  description of the eleventh grade and the eighth

         19  grade, you seem to drop the kind of historical

         20  context.

         21                 DR. DUNN: I shouldn't.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         23                 DR. DUNN: Absolutely correct. And

         24  that's why I'm saying that they --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So you do that
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          2  at a more sophisticated level.

          3                 DR. DUNN: And especially as in middle

          4  and high school, you really want to be thinking

          5  about the fourth and fifth strand. The students are

          6  out in the community looking at works of art,

          7  visiting museums.

          8                 And I just want to finish to say that

          9  they're also recognizing where they might find a

         10  career path in this, if they really love this, they

         11  love doing it, how do you earn a living this way.

         12  And that's part of the responsibility of the art

         13  teacher, to help the student recognize where he

         14  might go with this ability, what kind of schools he

         15  might apply to.

         16                 The seventh grader has to think about

         17  where he'll find a high school to study and advance

         18  his study. The high school student has to think

         19  about college.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Now,

         21  obviously, this is very rough, but how many of those

         22  schools would you say -- there are what, 300 plus

         23  elementary schools? Eight hundred, I'm sorry. Eight

         24  hundred elementary schools. What would your guess

         25  be? And again, exactly what you determine as the cut
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          2  off for excellence? But I've been in many good

          3  elementary schools, and I haven't seen what you're

          4  describing. I'm going to get myself into big trouble

          5  when I say that my second grader, I doubt could

          6  distinguish between primary colors. He certainly is

          7  not doing what you're saying. Of course, my

          8  principal is probably getting a phone call right

          9  now, getting her in trouble. But in any case, how

         10  many second graders, how many schools would you say

         11  are getting the excellent arts education? In other

         12  words, is it five percent? Is it ten percent? Is it

         13  50 percent? Is it 95 percent? Can you give me some

         14  -- and I understand it's rough, but can you give me

         15  --

         16                 DR. DUNN: I can't give you that. What

         17  I can tell you is that where there are teachers in

         18  the schools that have gone to our training ongoing,

         19  those students are getting a better art education

         20  than they were several years ago.

         21                 How many are reaching a level of

         22  quality that I'm speaking about -- and I also want

         23  to reference the fact that many of our schools have

         24  the benefit of studio artists working in the

         25  schools, and I think in those cases, we're getting
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          2  both DOE specialists and arts specialists working

          3  with them. There in those places you're definitely

          4  seeing it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Is it

          6  reasonable for the public to expect the Department

          7  of Education to know what percentage of its

          8  elementary schools achieves the level of excellence,

          9  as you define it?

         10                 Is that something that you think is

         11  reasonable for the public to expect?

         12                 DR. DUNN: I think that the public has

         13  a right to expect excellence in education in every

         14  subject, absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No, that's not

         16  what I'm asking.

         17                 I'm asking, is it reasonable for the

         18  public to expect that the Department of Education

         19  would be able to say five percent of our schools are

         20  meeting the standard of excellence as you define it,

         21  or 95 percent? Is that something that the Department

         22  of Education should know?

         23                 DR. DUNN: I don't know if I would

         24  couch it in percentages. But certainly we should

         25  know whether our work is excellent or not. So, I
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          2  would have to --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Why not? I

          4  mean why would you not? I mean, isn't that what

          5  accountability means? You're the expert. Presumably

          6  Mayor Bloomberg and Joel Klein want you to be their

          7  manager because you're good at it, and you have much

          8  better, than someone like myself, you have a sense

          9  of what excellence, I asked you because I don't know

         10  and it's helpful. Now I'm going to pay a little more

         11  attention.

         12                 I certainly recognize lousy. I know

         13  when I see an art teacher -- it's Halloween now so

         14  when I see an art teacher hand all the kids an

         15  outline of a pumpkin and give them all orange

         16  crayons to fill in, I say to myself, that is not

         17  high-quality arts education. And I think I have some

         18  sense of what medium is, but obviously I don't have

         19  the subtlties and haven't been thinking about this,

         20  and don't have the training that you have to define

         21  excellence. Why isn't it reasonable for the public

         22  to expect you to be able to say as the head of arts

         23  instruction in the New York City school system, five

         24  percent of our schools are meeting my standard, or

         25  95 percent; why isn't that reasonable?
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          2                 DR. DUNN: I think it's reasonable to

          3  want to know how many of our schools have an

          4  excellent program.

          5                 I think that it's a school-by-school

          6  issue, and we are looking I think school by school.

          7  So, it's reasonable to expect that we would know it,

          8  and hopefully at a time -- there will be a time when

          9  I can say to you, yes, we can tell you for sure the

         10  percentage. At this time I cannot give you that

         11  answer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I

         13  understand that it will be difficult for you to go

         14  out to all 1,356 schools. I actually had it as a

         15  goal as Chair of the Education Committee, but I

         16  failed. I haven't gotten to nearly that many.

         17                 But it seems reasonable to expect

         18  that isn't there an arts coordinator in every

         19  region?

         20                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And that

         22  person has staff presumably?

         23                 DR. DUNN: No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No staff. It's

         25  one person.
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          2                 DR. DUNN: That's basically, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And they're

          4  expected to go to the 180 schools in their district.

          5                 DR. DUNN: Exactly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do the LIS's

          7  have any responsibility for this?

          8                 DR. DUNN: LIS's supervise their

          9  principals, they supervise their schools and they're

         10  responsible for all subject areas, in my

         11  understanding.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, let me

         13  ask you this.

         14                 If you guys are not saying how many

         15  schools are meeting your standards, given that there

         16  are no tests, doesn't it sound awfully

         17  loosie-goosie? Like how are we going to know quality

         18  if you don't affix the gold star?

         19                 DR. DUNN: First of all, we have to

         20  know how many teachers. We're working with the

         21  teachers who are teaching in our schools.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sorry,

         23  excuse me.

         24                 Council Member Jackson, can you stay?

         25  You want to ask one quick question?

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 I'm sorry, Council Member Jackson, I

          3  didn't realize your departure was quite that

          4  imminent, but you have a CFE obligation, I know.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

          6  Madam Chair.

          7                 Dr. Dunn, I'm pretty shocked at your

          8  response to the Chair with respects to not knowing

          9  what percentages of the schools in the City of New

         10  York do not meet the type of standard that you feel

         11  would be an excellent arts education, considering

         12  the fact that you do have, as you indicated, an arts

         13  coordinator in every district, and part of their

         14  responsibility is to coordinate art programs and to

         15  oversee art teachers as far as in that particular

         16  area to ensure that the curriculum is being carried

         17  out. And to me that shows another just failure of

         18  the system to not be able to determine whether or

         19  not you're actually doing the job.

         20                 I did hear in your response, even

         21  though you did not say this, but there is not enough

         22  funding for the arts program because your arts

         23  coordinator in the district doesn't have anybody to

         24  assist them, as far as to handle all of their

         25  responsibilities.
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          2                 But I wanted to ask some questions

          3  before I ran out the door, and I'm sorry I have to

          4  leave, but I have a very important meeting of the

          5  CFE board I have to attend.

          6                 This document here which lists all of

          7  the schools, and schools with zero full-time art

          8  teachers revised October '05, and I looked through

          9  here, in Region 10, which District 5 and District 6

         10  are in Region 10, and I think on one, two, three,

         11  four, five pages down, it says PS 4, PS 8, PS 28, PS

         12  98, PS 153, 173, 192 and I ticked off those schools

         13  specifically because either those schools sit in the

         14  district in which I represent, or students that live

         15  in the area that I represent attend those schools.

         16                 And I turn -- like I said, turning

         17  five pages, and that category is elementary schools

         18  with two or more art teachers and a register of 500

         19  plus. Are you following me?

         20                 DR. DUNN: You know, we're talking

         21  about two separate documents. We have one that shows

         22  where there are no full-time art teachers, and then

         23  we have another document that the Councilwoman

         24  requested, asking for the number of schools with 500

         25  students or less with --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: With two --

          3                 DR. DUNN: With fewer than two.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And one.

          5                 But even I looked at the --

          6                 DR. DUNN: We have --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Let me just

          8  finish, Doctor, if you don't mind.

          9                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Then near the

         11  back it says elementary schools are less than two

         12  art teachers in a register of 500. And I turn to the

         13  last page, is Region 10, and some of the same

         14  schools that are listed that having two or more, is

         15  listed with two or less. And I'm scratching my head

         16  to trying to understand how can you have these

         17  schools listed in the same category.

         18                 DR. DUNN: It's a good question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So maybe

         20  somebody can answer that.

         21                 On the last page it says Region 10 in

         22  this category. Elementary schools with less than two

         23  art teachers in a register of five or more.

         24                 Then on page five you have here,

         25  elementary schools with two or more art teachers in
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          2  a register of 500 or more. And you have the same

          3  schools listed.

          4                 Then on the front page it says

          5  schools with zero full-time art teachers revised. I

          6  turn to Region 10, and you still have one of the

          7  schools that supposedly has two and supposed has

          8  less than has one listed with zero. And I'm all

          9  confused.

         10                 DR. DUNN: Now I am too, sir.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So maybe

         12  somebody please can explain it.

         13                 DR. DUNN: There may be an error here.

         14                 We have --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: There may be

         16  many errors here.

         17                 DR. DUNN: We have collected this

         18  information at the request of the Councilwoman, and

         19  we were asked for the number with two or more, and

         20  that's the first group. The second group is less

         21  than two. And then there is a separate section with

         22  zero full-time art teachers of any kind.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right,

         24  Doctor.

         25                 What I'm saying is in one particular
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          2  case, in all three categories, you have the same

          3  school listed in all three categories. I don't

          4  understand that. And there's other discrepancies in

          5  here where you have some listed as having one in two

          6  or less, and some of those schools with two or more.

          7                 DR. DUNN: We'll have to revise this

          8  and get back to you, because I apologize for that.

          9  If there is an error here, we will --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I'm

         11  just trying to understand, how did you come to these

         12  figures? Meaning you or your staff member?

         13                 Didn't they look at the categories?

         14                 DR. DUNN: We collected the

         15  information and we --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I understand

         17  you collected.

         18                 DR. DUNN: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: One thing is

         20  to collect and say, here, we collected it, and take

         21  it.

         22                 Another thing is to make sure that

         23  it's accurate. And that's the same question that she

         24  was referring to, as far as accountability, how do

         25  you know how many programs are being run that are
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          2  giving the standard? And basically I received, your

          3  answer was, I can't really tell. I don't know

          4  whether there's one percent, five percent, 50

          5  percent, I don't know. That's what I gathered from

          6  your response, your answer. And what I'm saying to

          7  you, as a member of the City Council, that answer is

          8  totally unacceptable. You should know how many

          9  programs are being run at a level that is considered

         10  excellent or fair or poor. You should know that.

         11                 Unfortunately, I have to run. I wish

         12  I could stay more, because then I could give you

         13  more realistic comments. Because what I'm saying to

         14  you is what the people of my district are saying. If

         15  I, as a City Council member, and someone that's been

         16  involved with education, look at these stats and I

         17  can't understand, how do you expect the average

         18  parent to understand?

         19                 Thank you very much. I'm sorry for

         20  the passion and emotion, but I'm tired of the same

         21  old garbage-in garbage-out  type situation, even

         22  though my chair said that your responses were the

         23  most comprehensive.

         24                 And let me tell you, we appreciate

         25  that. Something is wrong here.
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          2                 DR. DUNN: We'll have to look at that

          3  and get you better information on Region 10.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It appears,

          5  just for an example, that PS 192 and PS 123 in

          6  Region 10 both have zero art teachers and more than

          7  two art teachers. So, either -- something is wrong

          8  here.

          9                 DR. DUNN: What my assistant has just

         10  noted is that what we are basing it on is certified

         11  versus uncertified. So, there may be people assigned

         12  to an art position but are not certified, and that

         13  may be the discrepancy. We'll have to look into it.

         14  I don't want to give you an answer out of guesswork.

         15  We'll get back to you on that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, you have

         17  unlicensed art teachers?

         18                 DR. DUNN: We have teachers who are

         19  certified, but not in the art form.

         20                 For example, on the elementary level,

         21  a common branch's teacher may well be assigned to

         22  the art program.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But then they

         24  wouldn't be a dedicated art teacher.

         25                 DR. DUNN: In fact they would be. And
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          2  in fact, according to the state, we are allowed to

          3  have common branches teachers teaching elementary

          4  art. Even though we prefer a certified teacher, as

          5  long as there's certified common branches, they are

          6  allowed to teach every subject.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. If we

          8  could get clarification on that --

          9                 DR. DUNN: Yes, definitely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: On what we've

         11  got here.

         12                 Going back to this issue of quality,

         13  what system -- have you thought about what system of

         14  accountability would make sense?

         15                 In the absence of tests, does the

         16  Department have any plans to create a gold standard

         17  and then tell schools and tell parents whether

         18  they're meeting them or not?

         19                 DR. DUNN: First of all, we're working

         20  with the teachers that we've been training. And

         21  every training session teachers are working together

         22  looking at student work and identifying exemplary

         23  work at each benchmark.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm asking a

         25  different question.
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          2                 DR. DUNN: Well, I'm trying to answer

          3  that question.

          4                 So, the first thing that you need in

          5  order to determine whether or not the work is of a

          6  high quality is to determine what does high-quality

          7  work look like? What should it sound like for a

          8  second grader to play a violin or be in a choral

          9  group. A theater group, what should a student be

         10  able to do?

         11                 And so we are developing exemplary

         12  work at each benchmark, developing exemplars of work

         13  at each benchmark for each of the art forms that

         14  will become the standard by which we will be able to

         15  judge schools.

         16                 From our perspective, teachers who

         17  are coming to ongoing training are representative of

         18  a higher quality work than those who are not.

         19                 We have a majority of teachers in

         20  each of the art forms attending our training

         21  programs. This is something that has been rolled out

         22  and this is the way that we're assessing quality,

         23  based on the work they bring us and the dialogue

         24  that goes on at the training.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I'm a
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          2  parent and I'm trying to figure out whether I'm

          3  going to send my kid -- arts education is very

          4  important to me, I'm trying to figure out whether

          5  I'm going to send my kid to the school with the

          6  lousy arts education or the excellent one.

          7                 Do you have any plans to indicate on

          8  the school report card or in some way that parents

          9  would understand that such and such school is doing

         10  excellent work, versus not? Or there are no plans

         11  for that?

         12                 DR. DUNN: That's something that we

         13  have in discussion with the Deputy Chancellor.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I mean, it's

         15  very important, right? Because we don't have tests.

         16  And presumably nor would we want tests, right? Or

         17  would you?

         18                 DR. DUNN: Actually, I would be very

         19  happy to have examinations, not necessarily

         20  standardized examinations, the way you would have a

         21  reading test or a math test. There are benchmarks

         22  that students should be reaching. There should be

         23  portfolio work that indicates their progress, and

         24  absolutely you have to grade students in every

         25  subject, including the arts.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well,

          3  obviously we grade students in the arts in that it's

          4  on their report card, but are you proposing some

          5  sort of test that would measure quality?

          6                 DR. DUNN: We have an visual arts

          7  Regents exam, a three-year sequence, that's already

          8  developed that is available to any school that wants

          9  to use it. It's voluntary.

         10                 We are discussing creating similar

         11  Regents exams for high school students for the

         12  music, dance and theater programs, and so that there

         13  would be a standard by which they would be

         14  graduating with the appropriate credential.

         15                 As far as tests on the lower levels,

         16  I am not proposing that at all. What we're

         17  discussing are exemplars which would set the

         18  standards for teachers to identify and evaluate

         19  students work.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I don't

         21  want to belabor the point. I'm disappointed that the

         22  Department doesn't seem to inject the question of

         23  how you measure or indicate quality, and it seems

         24  like you'd want to start with that, and it seems

         25  like there are no plans to tell parents or the
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          2  school itself how good a job you think the school is

          3  doing. And the fact that the Department can't say

          4  what percentage of the elementary school and middle

          5  school and high school are meeting your high

          6  standard, seems like a pretty fatal flaw.

          7                 So, that's just a comment. You don't

          8  need to respond to that. But if you'd like to,

          9  you're more than welcome to.

         10                 Okay, let me ask you about funding.

         11  Again, I want to compliment the Department for

         12  making some progress, and obviously under your

         13  leadership, Sharon, for making some progress in

         14  knowing how much we spend.

         15                 As I understand it, we now spend $261

         16  million on arts education, and it's important to

         17  know, I understand it's a little bit of a rough

         18  estimate because it depends on whether you count

         19  what common branch teachers are doing or not, and

         20  you don't know exactly how much PTAs are raising,

         21  presumably, for arts education, so it's a rough

         22  estimate. And if my math is correct, that was

         23  something, I divided 261 million by the number of

         24  students and I came up with a figure of, I believe,

         25  234 a kid.
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          2                 Now, when I had the last hearing, or

          3  actually my first hearing on arts education, I had a

          4  number of principals, who by the way, subsequently

          5  got in trouble with the Department of Education, and

          6  this time I couldn't find any principals of

          7  traditional public schools to testify, which I found

          8  a little disappointing. One principal came in here,

          9  very talented person, who runs a terrific arts

         10  program, and I asked him, I said, you know, tell me

         11  what would be the bare minimum you would feel

         12  comfortable spending to give your kid an excellent

         13  arts education? And he came up with a figure of

         14  $700. That's when he got in trouble, because I guess

         15  you're spending 234.

         16                 Let me ask you this, and I hope you

         17  don't get in trouble: Is it $700? Is that a good

         18  guidepost as it were? Or is it, you know, $1,500, or

         19  is it $450? What's the amount that you think could

         20  guarantee our kids, not the Rolls Royce of arts

         21  education, but adequate?

         22                 DR. DUNN: I don't have a number for

         23  that. And I think that the number is not about the

         24  arts, but it's a bigger idea. That what does a

         25  school need to provide a complete education to
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          2  students, and what does that really cost? The arts

          3  are a factor. And as you know, it involves staff, it

          4  involves space, it involves equipment, it involves

          5  resource materials, as well as consumable supplies.

          6  But not just for the arts, for every subject.

          7                 And I don't know how to disaggregate

          8  just the arts. I would rather take a look and see

          9  what it really costs to educate our children. We

         10  have lawsuits with the state waiting to get some --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What do you

         12  mean really costs? I mean, don't we have to know on

         13  the ground? I don't understand that answer.

         14                 DR. DUNN: Well, I think we have to

         15  look more holistically at what schools deliver and

         16  not just disaggregate what the arts cost, because

         17  the arts are part of a larger agenda in a school.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If you're a

         19  principal, it's not pleasant, I suppose, to talk

         20  about money, but on certain level you've got to talk

         21  about money to know whether, you know, how you're

         22  apportioning your resources.

         23                 So, is it not important to know what

         24  the dollar figure is for arts education?

         25                 I mean, if Chancellor Klein could go
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          2  to you to say, you know, I'm going to take $100

          3  million away from you Sharon, and I'm going to put

          4  it in technology, you would presumably have a fit,

          5  right?

          6                 DR. DUNN: Of course I would be very

          7  distressed, certainly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right.

          9                 But you have to have some sense of

         10  what ideally you need. And I know this is an

         11  uncomfortable question.

         12                 DR. DUNN: That answer varies

         13  school-by-school, and we are about to engage in a

         14  very thorough analysis -- well, I shouldn't say

         15  that, not an analysis, but the project that will

         16  help schools think about what it really cost, but

         17  school-by-school it's different. There isn't one

         18  figure that I can say to you that it's $700. Maybe

         19  in the school that you're referring to, $700 would

         20  have done it, another school might have been less.

         21  In some schools the staff gets together and they

         22  share responsibility for arts education along with

         23  the art teacher. Other schools the parents supply

         24  terrific work because of the museum next door.

         25                 It is such a variable number. There
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          2  are so many variables that I cannot give you a

          3  single figure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How do you

          5  know -- I mean, presumably money has something to do

          6  with quality, no?

          7                 DR. DUNN: Certainly money has

          8  something to do with quality. Certainly.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, wouldn't

         10  you be interested in how much individual schools

         11  were spending on arts education, as a manager of

         12  arts instruction?

         13                 DR. DUNN: I'd be more interested to

         14  see how the school is delivering it than how they're

         15  spending their money, because the money comes from

         16  many sources. You can find money in many different

         17  places to support arts as you support social

         18  studies, as you support literacy, and it is not

         19  something that you can break apart and say this is

         20  what you need to do. You have to look at many

         21  factors, not just arts, in how the arts are

         22  delivered, as you know.

         23                 And, so, I do not have a number for

         24  you, and I'm not that interested in the number, I'm

         25  more interested in how a building addresses all
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          2  subject areas.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But you don't

          4  know that either. I mean, if you're very interested

          5  in that, you don't know that either. You don't know.

          6  It seems like you don't have any idea of how the

          7  1,356 schools are doing vis-a-vis your standard of

          8  excellence.

          9                 DR. DUNN: I don't think that that's

         10  correct. You're asking me to give you a percentage.

         11  I don't have a percentage to give you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, can you

         13  give me a range?

         14                 DR. DUNN: I can give you a range that

         15  every school that is sending -- the 1,000 art

         16  teachers that are coming on going to training, those

         17  schools that they represent are delivering a higher

         18  quality arts education than in the past.

         19                 Does it meet my gold standard? I

         20  can't tell you at this time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. It just

         22  sounds like you do know, but you don't want to tell

         23  me.

         24                 It sounds like you would know how

         25  many schools in the City of New York -- I always

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  find this a very concrete standard, how many schools

          3  in the City of New York, if you were only, and I

          4  realize this is a false question, as a parent you

          5  don't just care whether the quality of arts

          6  education. But as a hypothetical, if you only care,

          7  you're an elementary school parent and you only

          8  cared about the quality arts education, you, I would

          9  guess, have some sense which schools you'd send your

         10  kid to and which schools you'd be reluctant to send

         11  your kid to.

         12                 DR. DUNN: If I could say to you

         13  happily 85 percent of our schools are there. Believe

         14  me, I'd love to give you that number. I don't have a

         15  number because I cannot put my finger on the pulse

         16  of the arts program of every school.

         17                 I can tell you that where teachers

         18  are coming to training, where the blueprint is in

         19  place, where the principal is supportive, we have

         20  strong programs.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Isn't it

         22  important to put your finger on the pulse?

         23                 I mean, isn't it important for the

         24  Department of Education to be able to stand by and

         25  say only five percent of our schools are meeting our
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          2  standard of excellence in arts education? Or 95

          3  percent are meeting our standard? Isn't that an

          4  important --

          5                 DR. DUNN: It's very important for us

          6  to know what schools need and how we can help them

          7  get there, absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But that's

          9  different than what I said.

         10                 As a pass/fail, in terms of your

         11  standard of excellence; do you believe the

         12  Department should be able to say, a certain

         13  percentage, and it's not a science, a certain

         14  percentage in my judgment have met the quality

         15  standard?

         16                 DR. DUNN: Sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And do you

         18  think that we're like six months away from that, ten

         19  years away from that, we'll never get to it?

         20                 DR. DUNN: I think that we're going to

         21  always be working toward it. I don't know that we'll

         22  ever get to 100 percent, but we're certainly working

         23  toward it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I notice that

         25  in your teacher training the amount of money that
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          2  you're spending on instructional materials is about

          3  29 percent of the total, whereas given the amount of

          4  money you're spending on materials from the point of

          5  view of students it's five percent.

          6                 In other words, when it comes to arts

          7  instructions, raw materials are about 13 million on

          8  the total of 258 million or five percent, but when

          9  it comes to professional development, instructional

         10  materials accounted for 300,000 approximately out of

         11  1.3 or 29 percent.

         12                 Can you explain that enormous

         13  difference?

         14                 DR. DUNN: First of all, I think we

         15  point out in the document we gave you that we are

         16  only able to track what was actually spent on

         17  instructional supplies through project arts. The

         18  rest is factored into the principals' general

         19  instructional supply money, and you don't

         20  disaggregate arts supplies from other supplies that

         21  other instructional supplies. So, we know that more

         22  than that has been spent in the schools.

         23                 More importantly, the large number

         24  for the teacher training, those materials were paid

         25  for mostly through private funding, and they were
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          2  resource kits that were non-consumables given to

          3  teachers for classroom use.

          4                 So, the students have the benefit.

          5  For example, they are books about art. They are

          6  slides and transparencies, they are CDs that music

          7  teachers play, or reproductions of art work. They

          8  are videos or other materials that dance teachers

          9  are using to show using different forms and genres

         10  of dance, likewise, theater, so when we taught

         11  teaches to use the blueprint, we gave them, we

         12  referenced repertoire, we gave them that repertoire.

         13  We referenced dance forms, we gave them videotapes,

         14  for example, of a Martha Graham performance so they

         15  can show this to their students, they could

         16  understand when they're discussing different kinds

         17  of dance. They have things to look at.

         18                 All of those things that are given to

         19  teachers are for the benefit of the students, and to

         20  set up classroom libraries and materials and

         21  resources.

         22                 We had, as I said, private funds to

         23  pay for it, and it was a wonderful enhancement to

         24  the training.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't doubt
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          2  any of that. I was just struck by the different

          3  percentage. When you're training teachers, you're

          4  spending 25 percent on instructional materials, but

          5  when you're training students you're only spending

          6  five percent. Does that strike you as the right

          7  balance?

          8                 DR. DUNN: Given that the materials

          9  that we gave the teachers are materials that will

         10  last for many years on non-consumables, I don't

         11  necessarily -- I'm not suggesting that I wouldn't

         12  like to give more to students, but we're not giving

         13  the students these things -- these are the things

         14  that we're not giving teachers that will be used up

         15  by students. These are things that students will

         16  receive year after year, teachers will use these

         17  every year. And, so, they have a benefit --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You're not

         19  troubled by it?

         20                 DR. DUNN: I'm not troubled by it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         22                 DR. DUNN: I would love to increase

         23  what we give students.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, let's

         25  talk about that. As I understand it, it's about --
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          2  the amount of money spent on arts supplies is about

          3  $13, and then if you add materials for the arts you

          4  get about 14.50; how does that strike you in terms

          5  of adequacy?

          6                 DR. DUNN: We need more.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How much more?

          8                 DR. DUNN: I don't have a number. It

          9  really depends on how many students the teachers

         10  serve and --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't

         12  understand this. I mean, I understand that it's not

         13  a science, but when you say you don't have a number,

         14  just trying to imagine, you know, I thought we were

         15  trying to run this thing more like a business. Don't

         16  we need a number, politically, managerially,

         17  educationally? Don't we have to have a number?

         18                 I mean, I understand that it would be

         19  nice if we could get the Rolls Royce for every

         20  student. We presumably can't. But don't we have to

         21  have a number? I don't understand, how do we operate

         22  if we don't have a number? We have to know ideally

         23  the minimum we need to spend on art supplies to get

         24  the job done, don't we?

         25                 DR. DUNN: We know what teachers need
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          2  to have in their classrooms. They have lists and

          3  they have supplies.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, and how

          5  much is that per student?

          6                 DR. DUNN: We don't necessarily have a

          7  dollar amount attached to that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Why not? Tell

          9  me if I'm wrong, you're the one who's the manager. I

         10  just don't understand. I'm trying to conceptualize,

         11  you know, when I run my family budget, everything I

         12  do, I have to know, I have to have some sense of how

         13  much I need. I was using the analogy, you know, I

         14  couldn't guess how much food I'm going to need for

         15  dinner, I've got three children to feed. I have to

         16  have some sense of what's the bare minimum. I don't

         17  quite understand how you can sit here and say you

         18  just don't know. Doesn't there have to be some goal

         19  you have that, you know, you know, if the minimum is

         20  100 and we have a different problem than if the

         21  minimum is $15 per kid. All right, if the minimum is

         22  $15 per kid, we're in a very different situation

         23  than if the minimum is $100 per kid.

         24                 We don't have any idea on average,

         25  understanding that elementary is different from
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          2  middle school, which is different from high school,

          3  we don't have any idea what is the bare minimum we'd

          4  need to spend on art supplies per capita to

          5  adequately educate our kids?

          6                 DR. DUNN: I'm sure we can come up

          7  with a figure. I don't have a figure to give you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If we could

          9  come up with it, because one of the things we do, we

         10  negotiate the budget, and if we know how much we

         11  need for things, you've got a committee, which I

         12  think is unprecedented in the history of the City

         13  Council, that has a deep commitment to arts

         14  education. So, if you could give us a dollar figure,

         15  not only would it presumably help you as a manager,

         16  but it would also help politically.

         17                 If we don't have a number, how do we

         18  know what we're shooting for? That would be helpful.

         19                 Let me open up the floor to my

         20  colleagues. I have a few additional questions. We've

         21  been joined by Council Member Miguel Martinez, and

         22  Domenic Recchia, as I said, is the Chair of the

         23  Cultural Affairs Committee.

         24                 I do want to mention to my colleagues

         25  that we have a handout that lists all the schools
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          2  without an art teacher, and a handout that lists all

          3  the schools without an art room, music room, dance

          4  room, and so if you're interested in the state of

          5  affairs in your district, we don't have it by

          6  district, but we do have it by region so you can get

          7  some sense of things.

          8                 Council Member Recchia.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you.

         10  And good morning, Dr. Dunn.

         11                 As Ms. Moskowitz said, I'm the

         12  Chairman of Cultural Affairs and work very closely

         13  with the culturals information.

         14                 I have one question. The other day

         15  Kate Levin, the Commissioner of Cultural Affairs

         16  testified that she had been working with you on the

         17  curriculum for the schools; is that curriculum this

         18  blueprint?

         19                 DR. DUNN: That's right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         21                 So, what she told my Committee was

         22  incorrect? She testified the other day that she

         23  worked on a curriculum with you for the schools and

         24  that just this year they finished a dance curriculum

         25  they implemented in the schools.
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          2                 Now, is the curriculum that she was

          3  talking about this blueprint, or is there another

          4  curriculum?

          5                 DR. DUNN: That's it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: That's it,

          7  okay.

          8                 DR. DUNN: I can't really -- I did not

          9  hear her. I can't speak for what she said, but this

         10  is the work we've done with the Cultural Affairs

         11  Committee.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, I'm

         13  just trying to clarify if there's a curriculum or if

         14  there's just this blueprint?

         15                 DR. DUNN: The blueprint is the basis

         16  of a curriculum.

         17                 Teachers have the creativity to

         18  develop it into a day-by-day set of lessons, but the

         19  blueprint is the curriculum that she is referring

         20  to, I imagine.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. I'm all

         22  for this. I think it's a good idea. But I think we

         23  all have to get on the same level and understand

         24  what's coming out and what's not coming out.

         25                 This list that was produced for us
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          2  that says how many teachers there are for the arts

          3  in the schools. Does this list include F status?

          4                 DR. DUNN: No. We're only looking at

          5  full time.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Only full

          7  time. So, this doesn't include F status?

          8                 DR. DUNN: That's right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         10                 Because I know that a lot of schools

         11  hire F status teachers for their music and arts

         12  programs. And, so, this list, because there are a

         13  lot of schools out there that would have music

         14  programs, and would have F status teachers, so

         15  they're not on this list?

         16                 DR. DUNN: That's right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         18                 And you said earlier that, because

         19  what I'm trying to do, I notice in my region with

         20  the arts program, and I notice there are some

         21  numbers that I know were not correct, and that's why

         22  I asked you that question.

         23                 DR. DUNN: Well, it's an important

         24  distinction. We were very specifically looking for

         25  full time, because F status can be variable from one
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          2  year to the next.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right.

          4  Because I know a lot of schools throughout New York

          5  City use F status teachers for art, especially

          6  because it's hard to find certain music teachers,

          7  instrumental music teachers, and they have different

          8  types of programs and they hire different teachers.

          9                 Getting back to the supplies, and

         10  before the Chair asked you about questions about who

         11  is responsible, the LIS's and so forth. And if a

         12  region art director, okay? Sees that certain schools

         13  need supplies, what are they supposed to do?

         14                 DR. DUNN: The regional art

         15  supervisors should be talking with the principal

         16  about how they can address the gap in the program,

         17  should make sure the school is registered with

         18  Materials for the Arts, because schools can go back

         19  as often as they need to to get materials for free,

         20  and to ask the principal to direct resources in that

         21  way. The regional supervisor doesn't have a budget

         22  to provide supplies to each school.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: That's the

         24  point I'm getting at.

         25                 We're asking these art coordinators
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          2  --

          3                 DR. DUNN: Supervisors.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right, art

          5  supervisors, for the regions, to go in and help

          6  schools, but their hands are handcuffed. They need

          7  funding. They need to be able to have access to

          8  funds. They need their own money to help schools.

          9  Because, you know, I promote the arts, and you go

         10  look at my schools, every one of my schools have

         11  programs, but it's the music, the instrumental music

         12  programs that are very hard to implement in schools

         13  because of the instruments and the purchase of them.

         14  And there is no one giving supplies to that.

         15                 What are we doing to address that

         16  issue? Because I'm for -- listen, I'm trying to work

         17  with the new system. I understand it. But I believe

         18  that the local superintendent should have some

         19  money, and I believe the art coordinators or

         20  supervisors should have some money, and I'm going to

         21  hammer this home until Chancellor Klein hears this

         22  loud and clear, because I think we're asking these

         23  people to do a job. Again, they go into the

         24  principal, the principal goes to the operating

         25  office. The operating office says, oh, no, you don't
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          2  have money, the principal says I should have money.

          3  They go back and forth.

          4                 Meanwhile, comes May, all of a sudden

          5  the principal pops up, he has $20,000 left over. And

          6  this happens throughout the system.

          7                 DR. DUNN: We give project arts money

          8  just for this purpose. Schools have the discretion

          9  as to how they use it, whether they must use it for

         10  the arts.

         11                 I would be delighted if the Council

         12  appropriated money to every supervisor so they had

         13  money to buy instruments for any school that needs

         14  it.

         15                 There's a secondary issue which is

         16  perhaps even more difficult, and that is finding

         17  qualified instrumental music teachers. We do have a

         18  shortage in that area.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I know we do.

         20                 DR. DUNN: We have issues on many

         21  sides of this question, but it is a goal that we

         22  share with you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: You know, you

         24  brought up a point that the Council should allocate

         25  money for this, okay?

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 The City Council did allocate money,

          3  the CASA money, Cultural Adventure After School

          4  Initiative, and the reason why we put it into After

          5  School Initiatives, every Council Member got $50,000

          6  for two programs to be implemented after school in

          7  two schools of his or her choice, and it could be

          8  for any art program, whether it's theater, dance,

          9  artistic, drawing, whatever that Council member

         10  worked with the schools decided, okay?

         11                 And the reason why we did it for

         12  that, because we were afraid if we gave the money to

         13  the DOE, that it would get lost, it wouldn't reach

         14  the schools and it wouldn't reach our constituents.

         15  That's why we did it this way.

         16                 DR. DUNN: Well, I respect, you know,

         17  anything that you do to help the children is of

         18  value. In truth, if you had given into it and

         19  earmarked it through Project Arts, it's a line item

         20  in the budget and it could not have been misspent,

         21  and it would have informed an instructional program

         22  and strengthened the school day instructional

         23  program, to put money in that way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But what I

         25  just want to get into is is, you testified earlier
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          2  about social content and that you're implementing or

          3  recommending to teachers who teach the arts that

          4  they should teach more than just a musical

          5  instrument, or more than just in our class, they

          6  should go into the social content.

          7                 Could you develop, or elaborate on

          8  that a little bit?

          9                 DR. DUNN: When you study a work of

         10  art, the work of art, whether it's a piece of music,

         11  a dance piece, a theater piece or a painting,

         12  sculpture, it's created by an artist at a particular

         13  time in history, a composer, a playwright, a

         14  choreographer, and very often, well, I would say

         15  very often there is a social context to the work

         16  that is created, and it's helpful to students to

         17  understand why certain works are created, when they

         18  are created, that might have been influences in

         19  history, in politics, in environment, or many other

         20  things that influence the work of the artist.

         21                 Helps the person understand, helps

         22  the student understand why artists work the way they

         23  do and why they do what they do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, just so

         25  I'm clear, what I just wanted to get into, are you
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          2  aware, could you tell me which borough has the least

          3  amount of art programs?

          4                 DR. DUNN: I would guess, and I would

          5  have to guess, I would have to go back and check,

          6  but I think that the Bronx probably is the least

          7  served right now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Believe it or

          9  not, according to my study, it's Queens.

         10                 DR. DUNN: I would take tremendous

         11  issue with that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Because we

         13  did our own survey with different arts organizations

         14  we have, and that's what we're coming out with, and

         15  we'll have to sit down with you and show you why we

         16  say that.

         17                 DR. DUNN: Are you talking about

         18  schools having arts, or are you talking about the

         19  Borough having community services in the arts?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'm talking

         21  about schools having art programs, and especially

         22  music programs. There's really a lack, especially

         23  the Borough of Queens. That's what we have.

         24                 But anyway, what I just want to just

         25  -- I'm trying to get straight here is that Kate
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          2  Levin testified the other day that this

          3  Administration is focused on developing, and I'm

          4  reading straight from her testimony, and improving

          5  access to quality performing arts education for

          6  every public school student in New York City.

          7                 That's why the Department of

          8  Education corroborated with DCA and the cultural

          9  community to develop and implement the first

         10  comprehensive K to 12 arts curriculum. And last year

         11  the curriculum in visual arts and music were rolled

         12  out and this year theater and dance were introduced,

         13  okay? And these new curricula are delivered by

         14  in-school specialists in partnership with New York's

         15  outstanding performance art community.

         16                 So, just so I'm clear, there's no

         17  other curriculum, it's just this blueprint?

         18                 DR. DUNN: I don't think it's just,

         19  but, yes. The blueprint is the baseline for the

         20  curriculum to be developed in each school.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: In each

         22  school. And it's up to the teacher to develop and be

         23  creative?

         24                 DR. DUNN: Well, it's up to the

         25  teacher to follow the structure that we created, but
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          2  it gives the teacher the leeway to use -- for

          3  example, we suggest when you study painting that you

          4  create a Cityscape as an example of how you might

          5  use painting with a second grader, fifth grader, an

          6  eighth grader and so forth.

          7                 The teacher might decide that she

          8  would much rather do a nature study, or that she'd

          9  much rather do portraits.

         10                 We're not telling you what to do

         11  within the content of it. We're saying to you, as

         12  you structure your work, these are the principles

         13  and elements that should be included as you study

         14  these various mediums and patients, genres, in

         15  theater or in dance or in music.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. All

         17  right, I have no further questions.

         18                 Oh, I just want to recognize the art

         19  coordinator from Region 7, Ms. Palmer. Maria Palmer.

         20  She does an outstanding job. I work very closely

         21  with her. And I want to welcome you to the Council

         22  Chambers and recognize you. See, I'm sticking up for

         23  her. They need money.

         24                 DR. DUNN: You know what? Nobody here

         25  is going to disagree with you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I know.

          3                 DR. DUNN: And I want to acknowledge,

          4  you also have Region 8, Andy Buck; Region 9, Eileen

          5  Goldblatt. I don't know if anybody else is here from

          6  our regional supervisors. Maria Franzman from the

          7  Alternative High Schools. We have an extraordinary

          8  groups of supervisors working their hearts out.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, we have

         10  to work together, get them some funding.

         11                 DR. DUNN: All right. I'm with you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I wanted to go

         13  back to this funding issue.

         14                 As I understand it, you have 2,343

         15  licensed art teacher, and the salary costs are about

         16  220 million per year. If that amount was all going

         17  to teachers, that would be a salary of 94,000 plus a

         18  year, so presumably that's not happening.

         19                 How much of that is going to art

         20  teachers, and how much for administrators or

         21  out-of-classroom personnel?

         22                 DR. DUNN: You know, I can't tell you

         23  that answer. My understanding is it reflects

         24  teachers.

         25                 We have very few supervisors that are
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          2  dedicated just for the arts.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We'll have to

          4  ask the UFT. Is anyone here? Ann, I see you're here.

          5  That seems like these teachers were making, I'm sure

          6  they wish they were making 94,000 a year. That seems

          7  very unlikely.

          8                 DR. DUNN: Well, that might include

          9  the fringe. I honestly would have to come back to

         10  you on that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 Can we go back and get those answers?

         13                 By the way, Erin, I'm still waiting

         14  for the gentleman who came from procurement to give

         15  me my copy paper answers, which I would love to

         16  have.

         17                 If you could go back and tell us, of

         18  the 220 million, how much is teacher salary, versus

         19  administrator salary, to me the math doesn't add up

         20  if all these people are teachers. It doesn't accord

         21  with what I understand teachers to be making.

         22                 Let me ask you about the schools that

         23  don't have art teachers, that don't have at least

         24  one art teacher.

         25                 You say that there are 152 schools
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          2  that do not have at least one art teacher. Now, you

          3  also say that you may have in no circumstances a

          4  common branch teacher who is doing some arts

          5  instruction.

          6                 DR. DUNN: Right. Or a phys.ed teacher

          7  is teaching dance, or an English teacher teaching

          8  drama. There are certain fields that overlap, and

          9  they are certified but not in the art form.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I mean, if a

         11  phys.ed teacher is doing square dance, does that

         12  count that the kid is getting?

         13                 DR. DUNN: It doesn't count as a full

         14  dance program, of course not.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, I

         16  mean, I'm really interested, as a parent I want to

         17  send my kid to a school that has a dedicated art

         18  teacher, would you?

         19                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. We're

         21  agreed that that's the standard.

         22                 So, there are 152 schools that are

         23  doing without. If you, you know, average elementary,

         24  middle and high school, I get a figure of about

         25  152,000 kids who are going without, who are going to
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          2  school without a dedicated art teacher.

          3                 DR. DUNN: I think that number is

          4  inflated. The reason that -- many of the schools

          5  that are showing up with zero full-time teachers,

          6  are some of the very new schools with very small

          7  numbers of students.

          8                 As they expand from one year to the

          9  next, they are committing to hiring arts teachers as

         10  part of the curriculum that they deliver, but in the

         11  opening years, those schools don't seem to have

         12  full-time art teachers. That's what we have been

         13  told.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But there are

         15  a lot of PSs, and the new schools tend not to be --

         16  they tend to be new high schools, right? Look at

         17  schools in Region 3, which by the way, seems to have

         18  the largest number of schools, and that I think

         19  accords with my colleague Domenic Recchia, isn't

         20  Region 3, Queens?

         21                 DR. DUNN: No, Region 3 is Queens, but

         22  the largest number of schools are actually Region 2.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I'm

         24  sorry, you're right. Twenty-five schools in Region

         25  2, 20 in Region --
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          2                 DR. DUNN: And if you look at that

          3  list, you see a lot of these small schools that have

          4  opened.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, not

          6  Region 3. Look at Region 3. All of those are PS's,

          7  so that wouldn't account for it, right?

          8                 But you're saying that it's not

          9  152,000, because it's incorrect to average 1,000

         10  kids.

         11                 DR. DUNN: Absolutely incorrect.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. How many

         13  kids do you think are going to school every day

         14  without a dedicated art teacher? And by the way,

         15  that's not, just so we're clear, that's not that

         16  they have a theater teacher and a music teacher,

         17  individual arts and a dance, it's that they have

         18  none of those.

         19                 DR. DUNN: The answer is too many.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But how many?

         21                 DR. DUNN: I don't have that exact

         22  number.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you plan to

         24  get it somehow?

         25                 DR. DUNN: My concern is more to get
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          2  teachers into those schools than to get the number

          3  of students.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But, I mean,

          5  Mayor Bloomberg started his tenure as Mayor saying

          6  that the Board of Ed was run like a rinky dinky

          7  candy store and we're going to get these numbers and

          8  we're not going to have basic pieces of information

          9  not at our fingertips. You don't think it's

         10  important to know how many kids in the City of New

         11  York are going to school without an art teacher?

         12                 DR. DUNN: I didn't say that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You do. So, do

         14  you plan on finding out how many there are? Do you

         15  view it as an important question?

         16                 DR. DUNN: I go back to what I said a

         17  moment ago. I think it's very important to know the

         18  schools that have no arts teachers and why they have

         19  no arts teachers, and what the profile looks like,

         20  because it may well be some of the things that

         21  Councilman Recchia pointed out, they may have

         22  part-time teachers, they may have partnerships with

         23  the community. We're concerned that they have

         24  full-time arts teachers. That does not necessarily

         25  mean that they have no arts in the schools. And, so,
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          2  you have to look again, and I said it before, this

          3  is really a school-by-school issue that has to be

          4  looked at at the regional level.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. But it

          6  hasn't. And we're now four years later, and I

          7  realize you haven't been here for four years, but

          8  four years later, since I began this process, one of

          9  my earliest hearings was arts education, Mr.

         10  Giomondo, I think, if I remember.

         11                 DR. DUNN: Dr. Giomondo, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Dr. Giomondo

         13  came here and said we're going to know this

         14  question, because I've been asking since the

         15  beginning of my tenure, how many kids in the City of

         16  New York are going to school without a dedicated art

         17  teacher? I'd like to be able to ask a much tougher

         18  question, how many kids are going to school and only

         19  have a visual arts teacher but not a music teacher?

         20  Or only have a theatre teacher, not a dance. But not

         21  even at that level, we're simply at the level how

         22  many kids.

         23                 By my estimation, I mean unless you

         24  can come up with other figures, it's approximately

         25  152,000, and obviously that's a very disturbing

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  figure.

          3                 Let me ask you this: You say, forget

          4  for a moment the number of kids. You say that there

          5  are 152 schools, and that this is 55 fewer schools

          6  than last year, so that brings us to the figure 207.

          7  But last time you came to testify at this very

          8  hearing, you said, and that was last year, 483

          9  schools that had no teacher.

         10                 So, your information today doesn't

         11  match the information --

         12                 DR. DUNN: Because, if you remember,

         13  when we met last year there was some information

         14  that we still didn't have.

         15                 For example, in Region 10 at that

         16  time we had only 50 schools reporting. In this year

         17  we have 100 percent of those schools reporting.

         18                 And, so, after our hearing, we

         19  gathered more information. We were very concerned to

         20  get that information. Well, I'll stop there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, it

         22  was, in essence, 207. And you've reduced it by 55?

         23                 DR. DUNN: It has been reduced. The

         24  schools reduced it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And is that a
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          2  good amount of progress?

          3                 DR. DUNN: It's progress.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's progress.

          5  But in other words, what should the standard be, do

          6  you think? How many schools should we be reducing it

          7  by each year? Is the target 65? One should reduce it

          8  by 65 every year, and, therefore -- I need to know

          9  how long it's going to take before we don't have a

         10  single kid going to school where there is no

         11  dedicated art teacher; how many years away?

         12                 DR. DUNN: Let's come back together in

         13  three years.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I won't

         15  be here, because I'm in elective office, but you're

         16  saying in three years?

         17                 DR. DUNN: Well, I believe that we

         18  have an opportunity to adjust, to really work at

         19  this. We have great interest, the Council's

         20  interest, the Mayor and Chancellor's interest to see

         21  this addressed.

         22                 It is not something that can be fixed

         23  overnight, but it is not something that we want to

         24  leave indefinitely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can we do it
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          2  more quickly than three years? Because here's my

          3  perspective. And, again, I apologize for bringing

          4  motherhood in at every turn. But if my second grader

          5  were not to have an art teacher for three years, he

          6  would be --

          7                 DR. DUNN: Let's do it now. Let's get

          8  the Governor and the State to give us money they

          9  promised us, that we've been told many years, for

         10  some time now, where New York City is entitled to,

         11  and we can add to the cost of the schools.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We would love

         13  nothing more. But in the absence of that, you're

         14  saying there's no way to do it more quickly than

         15  three years?

         16                 DR. DUNN: I am saying to you that I

         17  believe that it takes a system of this magnitude

         18  time to adjust every school and bring every school

         19  on line.

         20                 We saw with Project Arts that it took

         21  three years to roll it out in a way that every

         22  school was able to behave responsibly with respect

         23  to the arts, and I believe that any change takes

         24  about three years to be effective. This is an

         25  opinion and it's not a fact and I want to be held to

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  it.

          3                 You're asking me what I think? I'm

          4  telling you what I think.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And just to be

          6  clear, without some massive infusion of money, you

          7  don't think it can be done more quickly than three

          8  years?

          9                 DR. DUNN: I think that it can be

         10  done, not necessarily only with money. I think it

         11  requires schools to address the way in which they

         12  use their funds, the way in which they align their

         13  staff, and that, again, I'm going to say it, it is a

         14  school-by-school issue. That's what we've come to

         15  recognize, that schools have to look at this

         16  locally, and see how they can fix it. And they can

         17  fix it, sometimes it's only money, sometimes it's

         18  resources, sometimes it's space issues. There are

         19  many factors that combine.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Is there any

         21  way that the Department, is there anything that the

         22  Department could do better to ensure that it only

         23  takes two years?

         24                 DR. DUNN: I would have to think about

         25  that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. If you

          3  could think about it, and I'll call you in a couple

          4  of weeks?

          5                 DR. DUNN: Definitely call me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Great.

          7                 DR. DUNN: I'd be glad to talk to you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I am impressed

          9  that you seem to have a handle on facilities.

         10                 I have been arguing for years that

         11  the capital budget cannot be done devoid of the

         12  instructional folks.

         13                 And, again, I've done all the subject

         14  matters, literally, literacy, social studies,

         15  science, math, art, special ed, and no one, other

         16  than you, seems to have any handle on the capital

         17  budget.

         18                 So, I'm very glad that you do. You

         19  seem to know that you need to worry about art rooms.

         20  And this Council, I don't know if you know, played a

         21  major role in ensuring that arts education money was

         22  in the capital budget, from providing funds for art

         23  rooms to chorus risers for music.

         24                 I think one of your music people told

         25  me that you need chorus risers. So, I asked, well,
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          2  why aren't there any chorus risers in the capital

          3  budget.

          4                 But in any case, my question is, you

          5  mentioned that there are 64 active auditorium

          6  upgrades, and other 79 Council-funded Reso A

          7  projects for auditoriums, dance rooms; do you follow

          8  whether these projects are being done on time?

          9                 DR. DUNN: No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Is there

         11  a way to get you involved in that? Because my belief

         12  is that this is a Herculean task, and it would

         13  probably take away from your focus on instruction,

         14  which would be unfortunate.

         15                 On the other hand, it's hard for a

         16  dance teacher to teach dance when her dance studio

         17  is taking years to get completed.

         18                 DR. DUNN: Agreed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I have

         20  authored the School Construction Accountability Act.

         21  If I may be so bold as to suggest that you keep it

         22  on your night table, and you can look at every

         23  project and figure out where the project is, and

         24  better yet would be to ask your regional art people

         25  to keep track. I mean, this is a business in which
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          2  the squeaky wheel gets the grease. If your people

          3  are demanding that the art capital projects get done

          4  faster and better, that will help.

          5                 DR. DUNN: I'm happy to look it over

          6  and I'm happy to see what you've done, because I

          7  agree with you that it's a very serious issue, in

          8  terms of providing a quality arts education.

          9                 When principals approach us working

         10  on these issues and trying to address them, we will

         11  try and intervene on their behalf, but there are

         12  schedules set up by those who provide these, the

         13  construction and the repairs, and we have to respect

         14  that construction schedule, even though we are --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, I never

         16  do.

         17                 DR. DUNN: -- As you are, trying to

         18  get this work done, because it's very disturbing to

         19  see children ready to learn and teachers ready to

         20  teach and not have appropriate space.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would

         22  recommend not respecting construction schedules.

         23                 DR. DUNN: Well, we respect them, but

         24  we are relentless, similar to you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me ask, we
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          2  are two years into the Five Year Capital Plan, and

          3  we've allocated 416.4 million for auditorium

          4  upgrades. We're two years into the plan. We should

          5  be about 170 million funded.

          6                 You say the Department has committed

          7  only 128 million. So, it looks like we're falling

          8  behind, right? They're supposed to be committing 170

          9  million, so they're sort of 50 million off. It

         10  sounds like a lot of auditorium upgrades.

         11                 What can we do about that?

         12                 DR. DUNN: I will have to make an

         13  inquiry, because I wasn't aware of the gap.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. If you

         15  look at it for each of the areas, you'll find a gap.

         16  I won't belabor the point.

         17                 What about the problem of sometimes

         18  creating an art room, and I see Julia Rankin heading

         19  out, and I only mention this because this is a

         20  problem in the area of science. I appreciate you

         21  coming.

         22                 But in the area of science, the

         23  Department sometimes builds these science labs, and

         24  then has no science teacher. And the building of the

         25  science lab is not coordinated with the placement of
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          2  the teacher.

          3                 How do we -- is that a problem in

          4  art? If so, how would we prevent it?

          5                 DR. DUNN: Kind of as an aside, we

          6  have been asked by the School Construction Authority

          7  to discuss what you need in the school, in terms of

          8  the arts, and so all new construction will in fact

          9  have a dance studio, art studio. But as the school

         10  is being formed and students are coming, the

         11  principal obviously has to hire appropriate staff.

         12  That again would be something that the regional

         13  supervisors would be working with the principals on,

         14  helping them identify staff.

         15                 One of the issues which you included

         16  in your questions is the pipeline issue of where

         17  these teachers are coming from. We don't necessarily

         18  have -- we have more interest in providing dance

         19  teachers and dance teachers to put into the system.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wait, I didn't

         21  understand that. We have more interest?

         22                 DR. DUNN: We have schools looking for

         23  dance teachers and not enough dance teachers

         24  available. We have schools looking for theater

         25  teachers and not enough theater teachers available.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And what's the

          3  source of that problem?

          4                 DR. DUNN: I think the biggest source

          5  is so many years of not needing or wanting to hire

          6  arts specialists.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We're plagued

          8  by the 1970s.

          9                 DR. DUNN: Exactly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Because

         11  schools of education shut down their arts education

         12  programs.

         13                 DR. DUNN: And they're starting regrow

         14  them, and our staff, the directors in my office have

         15  gone out and have been working, as we indicated in

         16  our report to you, they've been trying to find

         17  teachers, to invite teachers to work in this City,

         18  that we have interest and need, and we just don't

         19  have enough people enrolling in those programs to

         20  study and become teachers of the arts.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I noticed

         22  something a little curious in your answers to

         23  questions about certification.

         24                 You said that the content

         25  requirements -- we asked whether there were any
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          2  changes in the requirements.

          3                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And you said

          5  the content requirements were decreasing and the

          6  pedagogical requirements were increasing, and I was

          7  struck by that because in every other content area,

          8  people are bemoaning that it's not going fast enough

          9  in the opposite direction.

         10                 In other words, people bemoan that we

         11  don't have qualified science teachers because

         12  content requirements are not strong enough.

         13                 DR. DUNN: You know, I believe, but I

         14  would check this, I'm pretty sure I'm correct, that

         15  when this was written, we said that it's now 30

         16  credits instead of 36 --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right.

         18                 DR. DUNN: -- In the content area. And

         19  18 credits instead of 12 in pedagogy.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right.

         21                 DR. DUNN: That is true for every

         22  subject, English teachers, French teachers, Spanish

         23  teachers, science teachers need 30 credits in their

         24  area of specialization and 18 credits in pedagogy,

         25  and I believe that's a state adjustment and that
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          2  we're all accommodating that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So that the

          4  standards for art teachers were somehow more

          5  rigorous?

          6                 DR. DUNN: No. That any teacher of any

          7  specialization did in the past need 36 credits in

          8  the area --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, statewide

         10  they're lowering the content requirements.

         11                 DR. DUNN: That's right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, Jese.

         13  That's great. So, they're lowering the content

         14  requirements, even though everybody is saying that

         15  we need teachers with more content. When did that

         16  happen?

         17                 DR. DUNN: This is what we got from

         18  Human Resources, I think this is in this past year,

         19  because the year before it was not the case.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I hope

         21  if there are any reporters in the room they're going

         22  to note that the content requirements of state is

         23  lowering the content requirements.

         24                 Let me ask you about what you think

         25  should be the case.
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          2                 I mean, is it -- in other subject

          3  areas generally people complain that the content

          4  requirement isn't --

          5                 DR. DUNN: Well, recognize this is a

          6  bachelor's degree we're talking about. You know,

          7  generally you're talking about a bachelor's degree,

          8  that teachers need to have a master's degree, so a

          9  person majoring in art and education in an

         10  undergraduate school would still need a master's

         11  degree and could do further studies.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, the 36

         13  credits is not in a master's?

         14                 DR. DUNN: You need 30 credits, it can

         15  be an undergraduate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Ten of those

         17  could be undergraduate?

         18                 DR. DUNN: Or 30, and then you work

         19  toward your master's.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         21                 I guess what I'm getting at is in

         22  your professional judgment, do art educators, do the

         23  same problems that apply to art educators that apply

         24  to science? Or it's a completely different scenario?

         25                 In the area of science, most
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          2  educators I speak to claim that the content

          3  requirements for those teaching in science education

          4  are insufficiently rigorous, that they need to know

          5  more science, need to know more math. Is that the

          6  case in art or no? In your professional judgment.

          7                 DR. DUNN: I think that they need the

          8  basic 30 credits. You know, it was 36. I would like

          9  it better if it was 36, but let's assume we're now

         10  working with teachers coming in with 30, that they

         11  need to be constantly developed as individuals.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But if you

         13  were God and you could determine what the credits

         14  for content were, what number would you put? And

         15  would you put more of an emphasis on content or

         16  pedagogy? In other words, what would be the

         17  proportion?

         18                 DR. DUNN: Actually, I think that I

         19  would probably increase a total number of credits a

         20  person needs for a degree, and not say that I would

         21  borrow from Peter to pay Paul.

         22                 I do think increasing the pedagogy is

         23  a good idea.  I think that it's very important. When

         24  I was an undergraduate, we had pedagogical courses

         25  in actual student teaching of one form or another.
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          2  Every semester from Freshman through senior year,

          3  for the time we graduated we knew we liked working

          4  with kids or we didn't. It was clear. It wasn't that

          5  we did our student teaching in the last year and

          6  discovered this is not what we liked.

          7                 So, I believe increasing pedagogy and

          8  beginning the program sooner in a person's college

          9  career is a good thing. I think coupled with that,

         10  ongoing in-depth work in the area of specialization

         11  is very important.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Could you put

         13  a number on it? I know it's approximate, but how

         14  many credits off?  Is it that you think we should

         15  have 80 credits and now we're at 30, or you think it

         16  should be 42 and we're at 30? I'm just trying to get

         17  a sense.

         18                 DR. DUNN: You know, this is just

         19  speculation, I'm just trying to get --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I know. Just

         21  speculate, go ahead. Live big.

         22                 DR. DUNN: I do live big. I'm just

         23  thinking about the four years of college that's

         24  eight semesters, right?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.
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          2                 DR. DUNN: Right, two semesters --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

          4                 DR. DUNN: So, in eight semesters, if

          5  you spread your 18 credits across doing three

          6  credits a semester in the first two years and then

          7  the rest --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, don't be

          9  practical.

         10                 DR. DUNN: Well, I am trying to be

         11  practical.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Just tell me,

         13  what would it look like for you to say this is a

         14  really well educated teacher? Do we need 100?

         15                 DR. DUNN: No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You don't

         17  think we need 100, right?

         18                 DR. DUNN: I guess if I were -- I

         19  would want a person to have 36 in the last two years

         20  and another 12 in the first two years, maybe

         21  something like 42 credits or 45. I don't know, my

         22  numbers are really off. Excuse me.

         23                 But I would say that more than 36.

         24  Probably 40 or 42 would be wonderful. But I also

         25  recognize that there's a lot of other things that
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          2  students need to learn to be educated, and that just

          3  as I described my education to you, we had very much

          4  reduced number of liberal arts courses, and there

          5  was a shift, a pendulum shift in education for

          6  awhile where people were given many more liberal

          7  arts courses, thinking they'd become more rounded

          8  educationally, and then they would learn on the job.

          9                 And, so, it's depending on which is

         10  the fashionable side of the pendulum, but I believe

         11  more content and more pedagogy is preferable.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Because I

         13  thought maybe looking at your numbers, I thought

         14  maybe because you get more studio artists, you

         15  thought that the sort of art portion was more

         16  covered, and therefore people needed more pedagogy.

         17  That somehow science doesn't attract scientists as

         18  such.

         19                 DR. DUNN: We can confirm this, but

         20  this is not just art. This is what the State is

         21  asking. I went on line to check this some time ago

         22  and I saw that it was for any subject, because

         23  people were asking me about theater and about drama

         24  and about English and it seemed to me that it was

         25  all subjects.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I want

          3  to go back to one other subject that you spoke

          4  about, not to neglect. It's very easy I think in

          5  talking about this, particularly for people like

          6  myself who don't know that much about this, to focus

          7  on the visual arts.

          8                 When you were describing that

          9  excellent second grade education and eighth grade,

         10  can you give me the analogy in theater? I mean, do

         11  second graders do theater?

         12                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         14                 DR. DUNN: And I have my expert here,

         15  so if I can't he can.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What would

         17  that excellent theater instruction look like to

         18  second grade and eighth grade? I have a better sense

         19  of high school because that's when I remember doing

         20  it.

         21                 DR. DUNN: Well, what is theater? It's

         22  interpreting and it's also creating, so that

         23  students are looking at a piece of literature and

         24  they're studying characters, analyzing those

         25  characters, and finding out how they could use their
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          2  bodies, and use their voice and use gesture to

          3  express the nature of a particular character.

          4                 So, they would do that at age four,

          5  and they could do that in 12th grade through a

          6  monologue of great depth, or through creative

          7  dramatics. And so it's understanding character. It's

          8  building the imagination. It's thinking about the

          9  process of telling a story either with physical

         10  gesture, with words, perhaps with music, with

         11  movement.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You're telling

         13  me things that sound right, but I guess I'm trying

         14  to, I'm trying to put myself in that second grade

         15  classroom where there's excellence going on and

         16  lousy education going on.

         17                 DR. DUNN: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And it's a

         19  little hard for me to translate what you're saying.

         20  What are the little kids doing?

         21                 DR. DUNN: Okay. The little kids are

         22  going to retell a story that they have read, and

         23  they are going to work in small groups, everyone

         24  take a character, and they have the responsibility

         25  to use their voice and their bodies to express the
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          2  nature of this character and to retell the story

          3  with their peers.

          4                 In a good program they would have a

          5  chance first to think, they'd learn about how to

          6  project their voice, they'd learn about how to show

          7  anger, how to show happiness or whatever the story

          8  is about. They'd think about the sequence of events

          9  and who goes first and who goes second. The second,

         10  even in the second grade, students, one might be

         11  directing and one might be acting, one is telling

         12  the children where to stand and how to organize and

         13  the others are playing their parts.

         14                 In the lousy, the teacher is making

         15  them all recite the same thing, everybody is going

         16  to do the same thing. The children have no thought

         17  process. The teacher is saying you stand there, you

         18  stand there, you hold this and you say this word

         19  when I point to you. So, the children have no

         20  responsibility in the learning. They're not learning

         21  how to interpret something dramatically and share it

         22  with others.

         23                 As they get older they would be

         24  reading plays, attending plays, they would be

         25  writing plays of their own.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Would they be

          3  attending plays in the second grade?

          4                 DR. DUNN: Absolutely.

          5                 Not necessarily attending plays where

          6  they go, they might go to children's theater, the

          7  school might be bring in children's theater for the

          8  children, they might be watching video of a story

          9  being told through dramatic play.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Would you

         11  guess that there are many fewer schools where

         12  theater is being taught than visual arts?

         13                 DR. DUNN: Yes. Definitely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Because I

         15  don't know of any of the very good schools I visit

         16  all over the City where I've ever seen theater

         17  instruction. Ever.

         18                 DR. DUNN: Well, we can send you to

         19  some.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm just

         21  saying, you know, I visit schools, what, three times

         22  a week, maybe a third of them are elementary, maybe

         23  two-thirds are elementary. Are you worried that it's

         24  like at .01 percent of the schools? And that doesn't

         25  even speak to quality. That's just quantity.
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          2                 DR. DUNN: I do worry. And what I find

          3  most interesting and something that we're trying

          4  very hard to help people recognize is that theater

          5  is actually language. And that in studying language

          6  and learning language, we've been writing, speaking

          7  and listening. If you engage in theater, you found a

          8  very powerful way to help students develop all four

          9  of those modalities. And so we're helping schools

         10  recognize that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, are you

         12  envisioning that a school -- you're not envisioning

         13  that like the kids go to art once a week they'll go

         14  to theater once a week?

         15                 DR. DUNN: Well, that's one kind of

         16  vision. Certainly it would be very wonderful if

         17  every school, every elementary school had a theater

         18  cluster the way they would have an art cluster.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But that's

         20  probably not going to happen because resources.

         21                 DR. DUNN: Well, it's not a question

         22  of resources as much as it is number of theater

         23  teachers that we have available to us. We don't have

         24  enough.

         25                 I don't think it's going to be a hard
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          2  sell at all for principals to recognize that this is

          3  a worthy position to have in a building. I think

          4  that the issue, the thing that we can do about this,

          5  and certainly this is where the cultural community

          6  is very important and that's true of all the art

          7  forms, by the way, but in particular, if you have

          8  theater once a week with a theater teacher, that's

          9  great. But you might also have a theater teacher

         10  working with the teachers on a grade, helping them

         11  to see how in studying literature they can help

         12  children take the dramatic elements of a piece, the

         13  narrative elements, even in studying history and

         14  social studies when there was an event in history.

         15  How did that happen?

         16                 When I was in high school I remember

         17  my history teacher acting out Napoleon, and I

         18  remember those facts around that particular event

         19  more than anything else I learned that year, because

         20  here was this person who was very stiff all the time

         21  and used theater to make a point.

         22                 So, I think that we can help

         23  classroom teachers use this. That's why the

         24  blueprint is so important to us, because they are

         25  not just resources for the specialists.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you have

          3  any sense of, you know, again, I know you don't like

          4  to speculate, but if you were to guess, what

          5  percentage of elementary schools have theater

          6  instruction as you just described it?

          7                 Are you talking, you know, one

          8  percent, five percent, 50 percent, 90 percent?

          9                 DR. DUNN: It's certainly, I would say

         10  fewer than 20 percent, you know, at this point.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I think that's

         12  way high. I think that is so high.

         13                 DR. DUNN: Well, we're going by the

         14  number of teachers that come to training. And you

         15  have to recognize that most --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Twenty percent

         17  of elementary schools?

         18                 DR. DUNN: If you ask every elementary

         19  school, do you do a theatrical production every

         20  year, many schools every teacher puts on a play,

         21  whether it's done according to what we believe is

         22  good theater education is very different than what

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Is that what

         25  you're counting, you're counting that as theater
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          2  instruction?

          3                 DR. DUNN: No, I'm talking about the

          4  number of teachers, and, again, I shouldn't even

          5  give you a number, because as you said, I don't like

          6  to speculate when I don't have the fact.

          7                 We know that we have a certain number

          8  of people coming to training who are assigned to

          9  drama/theater positions in their schools, and

         10  there's a number of those people represent the

         11  elementary level. And I could get you the number who

         12  come to training and so we know that where those

         13  teachers are assigned, there is a theater program.

         14  And I think it's more than 80 --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: When you say a

         16  theater program, you don't just mean that a play is

         17  put on. You mean like an art class --

         18                 DR. DUNN: That's right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: They go to an

         20  art class, they go to a theater class.

         21                 DR. DUNN: That's right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And you would

         23  venture to guess that at 20 percent of the

         24  elementary schools there is a theater class?

         25                 DR. DUNN: Paul, how many elementary

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  teachers have we trained? Can you?

          3                 (Speaking from the audience. Not

          4  using the microphone.)

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Ten percent.

          6                 DR. DUNN: Yes. So, if you have about

          7  80 teachers who are on the elementary level.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you

          9  envision a point in time where a parent is going to

         10  be able to assess the quality of the arts education,

         11  or nature, forget even quality, nature of the arts

         12  education based on the school's website?

         13                 DR. DUNN: I do.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How far away?

         15                 DR. DUNN: We're starting with working

         16  with the parent coordinators in helping them become

         17  familiar with what quality arts education should

         18  look like through the blueprint. So that wherever

         19  there is a parent coordinator in a school who has

         20  some familiarity, then the parents have at least,

         21  not necessarily on the web, but through, you know,

         22  in-person dialogue, what's available in a particular

         23  school.

         24                 If you look at the school profiles

         25  right now, they are not specific about, they used to
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          2  be some years back where they did talk about arts

          3  programs and other special programs, and today they

          4  really are more talking about literacy and math.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Not only that,

          6  but have you ever noticed those descriptions of when

          7  they do have descriptions of arts education and then

          8  you actually go to the school? Have you ever seen

          9  the disparity?

         10                 DR. DUNN: You know, it's a good point

         11  and I'm going to make -- from now on before I visit

         12  any school I'm going to --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I always do

         14  that. I print out the programs that they have and

         15  then I ask my staff before I go to the school, I

         16  read about it, and I sometimes think that they must

         17  have printed out the wrong school, because the

         18  school doesn't have the after school programs it

         19  says on the website.

         20                 I went to one that described this art

         21  room and the materials, and they had no art room.

         22  There was no art room at the school.

         23                 So, I think it is important that

         24  parents, if you want sophisticated consumers, and

         25  you want consumers to be able to vote with their
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          2  feet, and what thing I would say that's good news

          3  about arts education, I find that parents of all

          4  socioeconomic backgrounds seem to appreciate the

          5  importance of arts education. When they don't have a

          6  dance program, when they don't have music and art,

          7  they know that they're being cheated out of

          8  something and it's important. And I think that's

          9  different, frankly, than 30 years ago. I don't think

         10  that everybody equally understood the importance.

         11  But they're handicapped, parents are handicapped

         12  because they can't tell, based on the school report

         13  card, or based on the school's website, whether

         14  they're sending their kid to a school that has a

         15  quality arts or even the nature of the program.

         16                 I can't from a school whether there

         17  is music and an art teacher or a dance teacher

         18  there, and it would be nice if the DOE could ask all

         19  schools to include that in their website, and then

         20  of course you have to verify, because there is a

         21  tendency for self-promotion, even when it's not

         22  true.

         23                 So, I would ask that you think about

         24  that.

         25                 I very much appreciate your
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          2  testifying today. I don't know if my colleague,

          3  Council Member Liu, has any questions. If none, then

          4  I appreciate your coming. I appreciate your answers.

          5  If you could get the follow-up answers, we would be

          6  most appreciative.

          7                 We have one more panel we're going to

          8  hear from, I know you know well, but thank you very,

          9  very much.

         10                 DR. DUNN: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We're going to

         12  now hear from Richard Kessler, Xanthe Jory and Steve

         13  Tennen.

         14                 Thank you very much for being with us

         15  this morning. I think all of you have testified at

         16  one arts education hearing or another, if not all,

         17  and I think your institutions have been present at

         18  all. I very much appreciate your being here.

         19                 I would ask in the interest of time,

         20  if you're comfortable enough that you perhaps depart

         21  from any prepared testimony so that we can continue

         22  the discussion, which has I think some pretty basic

         23  and simple themes, which is how well are things

         24  being done and how to judge how well things are

         25  being done, and how do we get to a place where
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          2  things are being done better. It's pretty straight

          3  forward in that sense.

          4                 Why don't we begin in the order in

          5  which I called you. So we will begin with Richard

          6  Kessler, from the Center for Arts Education.

          7                 I should mention at the outset that

          8  if it weren't for organizations like Arts Connection

          9  and Center for Arts Education, we certainly wouldn't

         10  be having the discussion we're having. These two

         11  organizations, along with many others, kind of

         12  brought us to the place that we are at today and

         13  certainly a far cry from where we were in the 1970s

         14  in the City of New York, and our children are deeply

         15  grateful for your relentless advocacy of arts

         16  education, but we look forward to hearing from you

         17  in terms of where we are at this particular moment

         18  in time.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 Mr. Kessler, please begin. And the

         21  light has to be off for the microphone to be on, and

         22  if you could just state your name for the record,

         23  that would be helpful.

         24                 MR. KESSLER: I'm Richard Kessler,

         25  Executive Director of the Center for Arts Education.
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          2                 Thank you, Chairman Moskowitz, for

          3  the invitation to testify. It's good to see you

          4  again, it's your last year.

          5                 I will depart from my prepared

          6  testimony, as I did last year. So, I will improvise

          7  according to the best arts education.

          8                 Trying to address the themes that are

          9  out here, I would say in many respects we are still

         10  looking at a world that is a little bit Tikinsian,

         11  in that it's the best of times and the worst of

         12  times.

         13                 I think in the best of times we have

         14  the blueprint, in the best of times we have the

         15  Office of Arts and Special Projects. And I would

         16  remind everyone again, thinking about what the

         17  1970s, 1980s looked like, and I'm a product of the

         18  system, I graduated Beach Channel High School 1976,

         19  I remember the days in the early '90s when at the

         20  Central Board of Education there was not one single

         21  senior official responsible for arts education.

         22  Literally you could call the Central Board with a

         23  question about arts education and there was not one

         24  single person.

         25                 So, to take a look at the staff at
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          2  the Office of Arts and Special Projects, to take a

          3  look at what Sharon Dunn has put together, and all

          4  her directors, extremely talented, extremely

          5  committed exemplary people. That does tell you

          6  something. This wouldn't be done, obviously, without

          7  the consent of the Chancellor. So there obviously

          8  are tremendous things happening.

          9                 If you take a look at the blueprint,

         10  if you take a look at some of the lesser discussed

         11  projects, less discussed projects, which is some ELL

         12  projects, ESL projects, there have been other

         13  initiatives working with common branch teachers,

         14  K-3, common branch teachers to increase their skill

         15  set in using arts across the curriculum in their

         16  daily teaching.

         17                 If you take a look even at the

         18  collaborative process to build the blueprint and you

         19  take a look at the professional development behind

         20  the blueprint, I think that you're looking at things

         21  that are absolutely wonderful.

         22                 I also think that what you see in

         23  this system, and it probably was even at the worst

         24  of times in the mid-'80s, very late '70s, just you

         25  can still find in this system, you found then, and I
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          2  think you'll find much more now, you find a system

          3  where the very finest in arts learning resides, in

          4  terms of the instruction coming from the teachers,

          5  in terms of the quality, in terms of the

          6  partnerships. You can find absolute state-of-the-art

          7  enlightened arts education.

          8                 These I think are all hallmarks, if

          9  you take a look at Project Arts, that we're still

         10  maintaining, I think it's 67.5 million, these things

         11  are all things that I would call best of times.

         12                 However, in the midst of this, I

         13  would even say if we could get back to the $75

         14  million budget on Project Arts, I think that there

         15  would be a lot of opportunity to address some of the

         16  things that you were asking Dr. Dunn about, that

         17  additional allocation I think could actually be a

         18  very, very powerful lever in moving forward with the

         19  needs of schools individually.

         20                 I think, so that on a census is both

         21  the best of times and the worst of times, while

         22  we've seen tremendous increases in the number of art

         23  specialists, we are hearing regularly from schools

         24  where arts specialists are being let go. So, you do

         25  take a look at increases in numbers.
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          2                 However, it's the kind of thing you

          3  might say in some cases it's two steps forward and

          4  sometimes one step back. You take a look at schools.

          5  My nephew's school, PS 29 in Brooklyn, two years

          6  ago, I believe it's still the same case, two years

          7  ago they let go of their full-time music teacher,

          8  and if not for the Brooklyn conservatory stepping in

          9  and creating an out-of-school time program, there

         10  would be no music program.

         11                 And PS 29 is one terrific school.

         12  This is PS 29K. So, we're looking at a school with

         13  significant resources, significant parental support.

         14                 So, you have to take a look at these

         15  issues. When you have some of the increases, some of

         16  the capacity building that's going on, again it's

         17  best of times. If you take a look last year, I think

         18  somewhere around March you had a coalition of

         19  parents from Brooklyn protesting on the steps at

         20  City Hall because of the lack of access to music

         21  education programs.

         22                 Now, I do want it to be noted that my

         23  statements here about the best of times and worst of

         24  times are not solely a partial criticism of our

         25  friends at Tweed. They're also, obviously, I think
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          2  our own objective and harsh judgment of our own

          3  work. We would like to be much further along, and we

          4  feel that we should be.

          5                 To that end, we are in the middle of

          6  the strategic planning process looking at the

          7  changes of the school system over the last four to

          8  five years and thinking about how we need to change

          9  as well, and by January we'll have moved through

         10  that.

         11                 But I think this is really the

         12  frustration that we have about where things are

         13  right now. It's this kind of confusion in terms of

         14  the very finest work, some of the tremendous strides

         15  in capacity, some of the enlightened work. And some

         16  of the questions at times are where the priorities

         17  are, and that's not about Arts and Special Projects

         18  Office.

         19                 When we take a look at the Leadership

         20  Academy, I think the approach that's been taken to

         21  date in the arts, I know there have been some

         22  changes this year, but we do not feel that they have

         23  really helped the cause. And if you consider

         24  historically what we all know, we all know that, and

         25  this is in the worst of the budget crunches, when
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          2  there is a principal that believes in the arts, they

          3  make it happen, and they have always made it happen.

          4                 So, you can see that the professional

          5  development arena, the kinds of programs that are

          6  developing principals, and you consider the rate of

          7  turnover for principals, we know how important the

          8  principal is and we think that there's lots more

          9  that can be done.

         10                 So, I think that's the sort of

         11  feeling we have around the center, that I think that

         12  you have a lot of opportunity, if now perhaps better

         13  than ever, the blueprint is a tremendous stride

         14  forward. The blueprint in and of itself will not

         15  solve the problem.

         16                 I think that the opinion we developed

         17  at the center surrounding the blueprint is that the

         18  blueprint's, perhaps the best results from the

         19  blueprint might be with principals who are not very

         20  strong in the arts.

         21                 If the system and the community

         22  together can work with principals to in fact develop

         23  or install arts education programs, for those

         24  schools that have very little, as a baseline model

         25  the blueprint may be the most fantastic thing that
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          2  has ever come along.

          3                 I think the schools that are doing

          4  good work, I think the blueprint is certainly a good

          5  assist, so-to-speak, maybe in hockey terms. But I

          6  think that for the schools that may be trying to

          7  build from very little, the blueprint can have

          8  extraordinary impact.

          9                 The former standards and outcomes

         10  state learning standards, local learning standards,

         11  were not something that a school leader could look

         12  at and develop an instructional approach from.

         13                 The blueprint really gives a sense of

         14  sequence, it gives a sense of depth, it gives a

         15  sense of activity, it gives a sense of partnership,

         16  so that I would say that that's been our feeling all

         17  along. We've participated enthusiastically in the

         18  development of the blueprint, particularly with two

         19  of the blueprints.

         20                 So, if you look at these things,

         21  there's tremendous strides in capacity, however, for

         22  an organization like the Center for Arts Education,

         23  which has no other goal but to see that every single

         24  student in this school system has access to quality

         25  arts education from grades K through 12. It becomes
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          2  an issue of equity, and it's a very difficult thing

          3  to take a look at the fact that the equity is still

          4  not there.

          5                 I would add, however, that we are

          6  working very, very closely with our colleagues and

          7  partners at the Office of Arts and Special Projects,

          8  at Department of Cultural Affairs, and many funders,

          9  to take a look at what can be done anew, what kinds

         10  of approaches, and I do think that over the next two

         11  to three years, you're going to see some different

         12  things coming down the pike in this regard, even in

         13  the area of development of teachers, to be able to

         14  address some of the pipeline issues about the lack

         15  of art specialists.

         16                 I would also add one other thing,

         17  just about the Center's approach, just a little bit

         18  of I guess tooting our own horn.

         19                 I think one of the things that we

         20  remain particularly interested in is the development

         21  of a larger community to support art education,

         22  understand the value of it, to lobby for it, whether

         23  it be parents, whether it be business, whether it be

         24  the body politic. And we've been working through one

         25  of our programs, a career development program, which
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          2  is an internship program that has worked with over

          3  nine businesses throughout the City, arts and

          4  arts-related businesses, to place high school

          5  juniors and seniors in intensive internships. It's

          6  really a youth development program. And we believe

          7  that an expansion into the more commercial arts, in

          8  addition to the not-for-profit arena, is something

          9  that also will build capacity throughout the system

         10  and build greater support throughout the entire

         11  City.

         12                 And I'm certainly open to questions

         13  at any time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         15  very, very much.

         16                 Xanthe Jory, thank you for being

         17  here. You obviously have a different perspective, as

         18  the founder, or Executive Director of Charter School

         19  for the Arts, and we'd love to hear your thoughts on

         20  the prior discussion. Thank you.

         21                 MS. JORY: Well, thank you for having

         22  me back this year. I'm really happy to be here, and

         23  really pleased that the City Council continues to

         24  push this issue, which obviously is one that's very

         25  important to me.
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          2                 Bronx Arts, as you said, is a public

          3  charter school and the school is founded on the

          4  principle that arts education is critical to human

          5  development and learning.

          6                 So, that believe is reflected in our

          7  educational design in a number of ways, and

          8  reflected also in I guess the commitment of myself

          9  and our board of trustees and all of our staff

         10  members, as we go about our work of educating the

         11  kids in our school.

         12                 I guess the thing that really stood

         13  out to me in listening to your questions and to Dr.

         14  Dunn's answers, were how familiar the issues were,

         15  and that even though our school, as a single small

         16  organization that is by its very nature designed to

         17  be nimble and designed to be able to respond to the

         18  problems and issues, you know, we're sort of facing

         19  the same questions that I think the system as a

         20  whole is facing, and it's, they are questions that

         21  we ponder again and again and I think that sometimes

         22  we decide that we think we've come up with a good

         23  answer for now, but never really leave alone.

         24                 So, you know, when you asked Dr. Dunn

         25  how much is the right amount of money to be spending
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          2  on arts education, that's something that we deal

          3  with as well, and even though I think we're very

          4  successful in delivering a really excellent arts

          5  education program to our kids, that's still

          6  something that, you know, I don't think there's a

          7  right answer to that.

          8                 What qualifications should teachers

          9  have? That's something that we think about often at

         10  our school. How to measure success, both on the

         11  individual student level in the arts and then how to

         12  report that success as a school is also something

         13  that's difficult.

         14                 So, the work of arts education I

         15  think is really difficult work, and I can only

         16  imagine how in the system, the larger system it

         17  would be slow.

         18                 I think that, you know, Dr. Dunn,

         19  I've known her for a long time and she's an amazing,

         20  amazing arts educator and proponent for the arts,

         21  and I really admire the work that she and her staff

         22  have done in creating the blueprint. It's something

         23  that we use all the time, and I think really is a

         24  foundation for a lot of the things that need to come

         25  next that you were pressing her on, such as this
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          2  piece about determining how many schools are doing

          3  an excellent program, are providing an excellent

          4  program.

          5                 I think that one thing that I feel

          6  very strongly about that maybe didn't get touched on

          7  in your questions, is that there are schools out

          8  there such as ours that I think are doing an amazing

          9  job, and that the learning that can happen between

         10  those schools, and I think that's starting to happen

         11  through the education, the teacher education that's

         12  happening that's being provided by the Department, I

         13  think that that is really going to be a key, or

         14  could be a key to successfully expanding the number

         15  of schools that are doing an excellent job at

         16  providing arts education for students, and the key

         17  to also recruiting teachers into the profession

         18  which is something that we, that's an issue that we

         19  face really acutely as well.

         20                 So, I'll stop there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         22                 Steve Tennen.

         23                 MR. TENNEN: Thank you for inviting me

         24  this morning.

         25                 I was very lucky. I graduated from
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          2  the High School of Performing Arts in 1964. I had

          3  the best arts education you could possibly, possibly

          4  have in New York City, and I think that there are

          5  still places where you can have an equally fine arts

          6  education.

          7                 I think that one of the things about

          8  looking at Arts Education is, unlike a lot of areas

          9  with the public schools, you really have to look at

         10  it in a context of what's gone on over the last 30

         11  years.

         12                 1974, as a program director at Henry

         13  Street Settlement, I started an Arts and Ed program

         14  to put professional artists into the schools on the

         15  Lower East Side, because already in '74 the music

         16  and art teachers were being accessed and that was

         17  before the fiscal crisis. So, this goes back a long,

         18  long time. And time is the issue. It's not about is

         19  it the best of times, is it the worst of times. It's

         20  about time. It takes time to create change. It takes

         21  time to implement. And I know that with schools

         22  that's a horrible argument, because if you're a

         23  parent you don't have that much time. Your children

         24  start school and graduate in 12 years, you know,

         25  they can't wait. But, unfortunately, that time issue
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          2  is, I think it's really critical. I've been doing

          3  this for over 30 years. I have to say that this

          4  Administration is the best administration that I

          5  worked with in terms of arts education.

          6                 For a number of reasons. There's a

          7  structure. There's an arts office. We hadn't had

          8  that before, and it's staffed, and I recognize the

          9  fact that theater and dance should be part of what

         10  goes on in children's lives, and that's something

         11  very new.

         12                 The Project Arts money could be

         13  raised, but it's still there, it was kept, and it's

         14  used for very important things, not the least of

         15  which is helping to bring cultural organizations

         16  into the schools.

         17                 The blueprints are a major

         18  achievement. They recognize all four disciplines.

         19  They provide benchmarks for what second, fifth,

         20  eighth and twelfth graders should learn and be able

         21  to do. They were developed in coordination with the

         22  cultural community. There's never been I think a

         23  better partnership between the cultural community

         24  and central than we've got right now.

         25                 I think that while we're not at the
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          2  point we'd like to be, we are starting to see

          3  recruitment of dance and theater teachers in the

          4  schools and that's never happened before, and that

          5  should be part of what every child gets as part of

          6  their education.

          7                 There's a lot of work to be done. I

          8  mean, this is never going to be successful until all

          9  principals and all LIS's understand what the

         10  blueprint is all about, and I think we've got a way

         11  to go for that to happen, but that's going to take

         12  time.

         13                 The Regional Art Supervisors, they

         14  need assistance. They need staffs. But they're there

         15  and they're working to try to move things along.

         16                 Again, we need to hire more theater

         17  and dance teachers. The facilities are always an

         18  issue. And that myth that every school has a closet

         19  somewhere where there are musical instruments that

         20  haven't been used since the seventies is absolutely

         21  a myth and it needs to be put away and instruments

         22  need to be found for schools that have music

         23  programs.

         24                 There needs to be a greater

         25  conversation, I think, between the art specialists
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          2  and the classroom teachers. One of the things that's

          3  exciting about people coming in from an outside

          4  organization like Arts Connection, is our work is

          5  based on a conversation between the artist coming

          6  in, the teaching artist coming in and the classroom

          7  teacher. And everything is based on that

          8  conversation and that understanding. When the art

          9  specialist comes into the room, the classroom

         10  teacher leaves. And I think that we need to find a

         11  better way of creating this larger conversation.

         12                 I will say that one thing that I have

         13  noticed over the last couple of years, and I'm going

         14  to end here, is the fact that I go in to see a lot

         15  of funders, and it's a lot easier these days to make

         16  the case for arts education, because they're

         17  beginning to understand that we're working an

         18  educational system that supports that work, and that

         19  is a major, major change.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I apologize

         21  for having a few side conversations. We're all

         22  supposed to be voting on legislation, and we don't

         23  have a quorum, and we can't vote until we have a

         24  quorum, so we're trying to find our colleagues.

         25  Someone is stuck in traffic and all sorts of things.
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          2  So, I apologize for that.

          3                 This is very helpful, getting your

          4  comments. I'm going to ask you to, I'm going to sort

          5  of show my ignorance. Sharon I think was very

          6  articulate and you all have been, and somehow I'm

          7  not getting something and I'm hoping you can

          8  enlighten me.

          9                 Again, you all seem to think that

         10  this is really important, and I trust your judgment.

         11  I've been to Xanthe's school, I've seen the amazing

         12  work. I've had the opportunity to speak with both of

         13  you. You seem to be among the most knowledgeable.

         14  Why am I not appreciating it?

         15                 When I open to any given page, I have

         16  two reactions. First, it seems somewhat obvious,

         17  like teach kids how to look at a painting, and look.

         18  And I'm saying to myself, both, it seems very

         19  simple, and second of all, I end up having this

         20  reaction like if we have to teach -- if that's the

         21  level and we're having to teach teachers who are art

         22  teachers -- I understand if you are giving this to a

         23  science teacher why you would need to do that, but

         24  if you're giving it to an arts teacher, I get a

         25  feeling of hopelessness, and I'm wondering if you
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          2  can explain why that's the wrong reaction?

          3                 I'm obviously missing, and I

          4  obviously haven't read it as carefully, I obviously

          5  didn't participate in its creation. Unlike you,

          6  Xanthe, I'm not pulling it off the shelf, and I'm

          7  actually in the practice of trying to educate

          8  students, and I worry that there are other people

          9  like myself who look at this and see it's a glossy

         10  book but somehow are not appreciating it. And you

         11  all seem to appreciate it.

         12                 So, can someone help me and explain

         13  why I have an over-simplified view or I'm not

         14  looking at it correctly or something? Because this

         15  is my second attempt. I had the same problem at the

         16  last arts hearing, and I don't feel I've made any

         17  progress. I've feeling like a lousy student myself.

         18                 MR. TENNEN: I think it's a very

         19  comprehensive piece of work. It's telling an art

         20  teacher that they have to look at what they do

         21  through a number of different lenses. They don't

         22  only have to teach the hands-on art experience, but

         23  they've got to deal with the aesthetic. They've got

         24  to deal with the historic content, context in which

         25  the work was created that they're looking at.
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          2                 It talks about working with the

          3  cultural community and where the cultural community

          4  can come in and help. It talks about some of the

          5  after school and other activities. It's a

          6  comprehensive way of looking at the teaching, and I

          7  don't think that we've ever asked our art teachers

          8  to look at it in this comprehensive way before.

          9                 It also says, and I think the other

         10  value is the value to the principals and to the

         11  LIS's, because it gives them a sense of the larger

         12  context this work can be done in, and how many other

         13  areas it can relate to.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But didn't one

         15  of you also say that for the people who have

         16  internalized this, they don't need it, and for the

         17  people who haven't -- I mean, if you have an art

         18  teacher who doesn't understand that it is worthwhile

         19  to have some historical perspective, that it's not

         20  just teaching kids tone and tint, independent of the

         21  great tradition of art worldwide. I mean, is that --

         22                 MR. KESSLER: Well, I think there is a

         23  couple of things. I think that for the teachers who

         24  have internalized this, I think it still has a

         25  positive effect in that it's tended to help create
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          2  continuity from school-to-school to

          3  classroom-to-classroom from grade-to-grade. I think

          4  what we had previous to this, you may have had some

          5  of the most remarkable things going on, it was so

          6  different from one school to the next.

          7                 And I think that what this has done

          8  is, it's -- it's a framework. Again, it's not

          9  something that's prescriptive.

         10                 My sister teachers at Brooklyn

         11  College Academy, it's a seven through 12 school in

         12  Brooklyn, and she's an art, she's a professional

         13  artist, and she's an art teacher, and she bristled

         14  when she first saw it. She bristled that she had to

         15  do Cityscape, she didn't like it.

         16                 You know, at the end of the day she

         17  started working her way through it and she combined

         18  forces with the music teacher and they did the

         19  Cityscape together.

         20                 So, I think what it's done is, for

         21  some of the teachers, it's given them a little bit

         22  more of a container, in terms of what's taking place

         23  throughout the City, what's expected.

         24                 I think that it's helped to -- I

         25  think, again, for the administrators, for the
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          2  principals, for the LIS's, for parents, for people

          3  who don't know about the arts, and you have to

          4  consider again, and you mentioned this with Sharon,

          5  over the long look of time, it's true, it's

          6  depressing, the fact that we have principals, and we

          7  have other institutional leaders, who they,

          8  themselves, have not had arts education in their own

          9  K through 12 schooling, they did not have it as part

         10  of their pre-service training. You have classroom

         11  teachers, you know, once upon a time they used to

         12  have to know how to play the piano. They used to

         13  have to be comfortable in leading their class

         14  through song.

         15                 These types of things were removed

         16  from many of the pre-service curricula. So, you have

         17  a system where the blueprint itself helps to

         18  organize and helps to create understanding of

         19  quality and sequence, not just in an arts, for an

         20  arts teacher, for a much larger system, and I think

         21  on that level it's very, very, very important.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Xanthe, did

         23  you want to add anything?

         24                 MS. JORY: Yes. Just I agree with the

         25  comments that have been made.
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          2                 And also, I think the blueprint

          3  forms, provides a basis that perhaps has not yet

          4  been fully acted on for both assessment of students

          5  in the arts, and also accountability for teachers in

          6  schools.

          7                 So, we know have, or will eventually

          8  be able to use the blueprint to sort of identify the

          9  standard that you're talking about and determine

         10  whether schools are reaching that standard based on

         11  whether their students are achieving these

         12  benchmarks.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, that's

         14  obviously helpful, and it sounds like part of this

         15  is, this is a pre-condition for excellence, which

         16  seems somewhat far off in the future. And maybe

         17  that's helpful to understand, that you need to have

         18  some unifying conversation about what the goals are,

         19  and it needs to have a level of concreteness in all

         20  the different disciplines so that you're not just

         21  doing the visual arts.

         22                 I think I understand what you're

         23  saying. Let's move to, in the interest of time,

         24  let's move to this question of accountability and

         25  excellence, and I know that I may put you in a
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          2  little bit of a tricky situation, but that's sort of

          3  my nature.

          4                 Do you find it shocking that the

          5  Department of Education doesn't have any kind of

          6  percentage, can't give me any kind of percentage of

          7  how many schools are doing visual arts excellently.

          8  Is that astounding? Or is it not astounding? Is it

          9  completely, you know, what would you expect, there

         10  are 1,350 schools, how could they possibly know

         11  whether it's five percent or 75 percent?

         12                 MR. KESSLER: It's not astounding. And

         13  I know it's something that is being worked on in

         14  ways as never before. Alliance for the Arts has

         15  implemented a study and is developing a database, is

         16  trying to understand, particularly from the cultural

         17  organization side what types of services go into

         18  which schools. It still is a ways off.

         19                 I can tell you, again, considering

         20  the mission of the center, and that's that every

         21  child have access to this, grades K through 12, is

         22  an essential part of the school, the lack of data

         23  has put us in a very, very difficult situation. What

         24  would happen is, you know, we hear rumors, it's all

         25  anecdotal. You hear from a couple of teachers, you
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          2  hear that, you know, this was a year or two ago,

          3  that they're letting go of middle school arts

          4  teachers, that it's in effect of a priority change

          5  at Tweed.

          6                 You know, you want to go to your

          7  board and say, hey, you know, they're letting go of

          8  arts specialists, but, you know, the fact is we

          9  couldn't get the numbers. We can't go to board of

         10  directors, you say to them, you have to do

         11  something. Well, what is it you could do? They want

         12  to know what the numbers are. No one would know what

         13  the numbers are. You know, we've been around and

         14  around about this. At one point people thought the

         15  UFT in fact had the best numbers out there, that

         16  they had access to data and teaching lines, a lot of

         17  information about teaching lines no one else had. We

         18  know right now that the Department is making all

         19  kinds of upgrades in terms of its data collection

         20  processes and techniques, but the fact is that this

         21  is the way the system has been in terms of

         22  understanding things.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But can you be

         24  in charge of something and not have any sense of

         25  whether you're missing the mark by eight percent?
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          2                 I mean, let me ask Xanthe, wouldn't

          3  your board of trustees be pretty upset with you if

          4  you couldn't tell your board of trustees how many of

          5  your kids were achieving excellence the way you

          6  defined it?

          7                 MS. JORY: Yes, they would.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And just

          9  internally within your organizations, I would think

         10  you would have the same response, that you've got to

         11  be able to know it's not a science, and it's hard to

         12  know with military precision, but shouldn't the head

         13  of the DOE be able to tell whether five percent of

         14  the schools are making it or 90 percent?

         15                 MR. TENNEN: I'm not sure if it's the

         16  head of the DOE.

         17                 The principal in each school is

         18  responsible for what's going on educationally and

         19  the quality of that education.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, but who

         21  do they report to?

         22                 MR. TENNEN: But I think one of things

         23  the blueprint is going to do is it's going to give

         24  them some benchmarks so they can begin to see

         25  whether or not the art teachers are doing the job
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          2  that they -- I don't think they know what to look

          3  for.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, do the

          5  regional art instructors know what to look for? I

          6  mean, we all agree Sharon knows what to look for,

          7  and her four people, theater, dance, music and

          8  visual arts, they know what to look for, and

          9  presumably at the ten regions, they know what to

         10  look for, right?

         11                 MR. KESSLER: They do know what to

         12  look for, but in terms of pure data collection

         13  technique, there's been I think a lack of

         14  capability. You know, it's one thing to send out

         15  each one of the regional arts supervisors and ask

         16  them with protocol to try to track the numbers.

         17                 I think what I know they're working

         18  on over at the Department of Education, is they're

         19  working on things such as a revamping of a CEP, so

         20  they can start to take a look at where each school

         21  measures up against the state requirements, the C

         22  time requirements.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sorry. If

         24  you were, any one of you, the head of -- you were

         25  one of these regional art people, what are they
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          2  called?

          3                 MR. KESSLER: Regional art

          4  supervisors.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, regional

          6  art supervisors. And you had 180 schools in your

          7  midst, are there any sort of efficient ways you

          8  could think of to get a sense of whether five

          9  percent of your schools were meeting your quality?

         10                 Or is the only way to go visit the

         11  180, and that's physically impossible?

         12                 MS. JORY: I don't know whether it's

         13  physically impossible to visit 180 schools, they're

         14  not given the scope of the jobs of the regional art

         15  supervisors, I think you would have to visit every

         16  school in order to know that.

         17                 MR. KESSLER: And you'd have to visit

         18  several times. You really want to see the art

         19  teacher in the room teaching. And that's what

         20  principals do all the time with the people who are

         21  in their building.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I guess I'm

         23  just skeptical. I mean, if you had to take

         24  shortcuts, it seems to me you could. You could take

         25  a sampling. Just let's say you just want to know,
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          2  you're the first week on the job, you want to know

          3  what kind of problem you have. Do you have a little

          4  problem, a medium-sized problem, or a gigantic

          5  problem? Aren't there ways where you could parachute

          6  down into some subset of the 180 and get some sense?

          7  I'm not saying that it would be military precise as

          8  sort of a target, but you would have some sense,

          9  wouldn't you?

         10                 MR. KESSLER: I think that if we're

         11  looking at the issue of quality, and trying to

         12  determine quality arts education, and let's leave

         13  aside the number of teaching lines and the number of

         14  teachers how many schools have or don't, I think

         15  that you do have to go back to the blueprint and you

         16  do have to go back to the fact that the issue of

         17  quality is in flux. But the blueprint is changing

         18  some of the perceptions from school to school across

         19  the system.

         20                 I would also say that, I think that

         21  the ability to assess the blueprint, the ability to

         22  assess it quantitatively, qualitatively, is not

         23  quite there yet. If you look at the development of

         24  the blueprint, if you look at a continuum of that

         25  work, I think that one of the next steps really is,
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          2  is in fact being able to determine and assess what's

          3  taking place in the schools. But I would say within

          4  the blueprint that part of it is much less evolved,

          5  that component is less evolved.

          6                 I think that it's something, you

          7  know, I would say it's much better than it was in

          8  previous years, if you looked under Crew

          9  Administration, Cortines, if you tried to determine

         10  quality tried to figure out what art specialist

         11  resided, try to figure out what went on from one

         12  school to the next.

         13                 So, again, if you look at an even

         14  larger continuum, what you're finding is that

         15  clearly the organization is improving. And I know

         16  that they are working on that next step to get to

         17  the place of where they can answer that question.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: This is just

         19  troubling that here there is this very extensive

         20  redesign going on, and the question of quality

         21  control is not built into the question from the get

         22  go. When you're doing this, I would think the first

         23  thing you want to do is set up ways that you can --

         24  otherwise it's going to sit on your shelf, and

         25  what's the whole point of it. And it doesn't seem
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          2  like any thought.

          3                 So, I don't want to belittle the

          4  intellectual importance or the instructional

          5  importance of having guideposts, but I can't -- I

          6  mean, you're obviously not as troubled as I, and you

          7  may not be in a position to be as troubled as I, but

          8  I find it profoundly troubling, and I wanted to

          9  emphasize that for the record, that either they

         10  don't want to say that only five percent of their

         11  schools are meeting the standard, because we got an

         12  election in 11 days. Or they honestly don't know. I

         13  don't see how you can be an upper manager and not

         14  have a sense down the line of what the quality is.

         15  But I would agree that some progress has been made

         16  on very basic questions, like how many schools don't

         17  have an art teacher, although even then it sometimes

         18  feels a little bit like quicksand.

         19                 Do you believe that there is a

         20  correlation between sort of the socioeconomic level

         21  of the school and the quality of the art program?

         22                 In other words, is it accurate to

         23  assume that our poor schools are suffering the most,

         24  or by this standard of quality is that not actually

         25  the case?
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          2                 Do you see my question?

          3                 And I'm asking quality, rather than

          4  quantity. I would assume with regard to quantity,

          5  you would argue that it correlates to the

          6  socioeconomic status of the children; is that

          7  correct?

          8                 MR. TENNEN: I think it correlates to

          9  the leadership in each school. I think that

         10  principals that believe arts education is valuable

         11  will have arts programs in their building, and arts

         12  instruction in their building.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Couldn't they

         14  have arts instruction in their building that was

         15  lousy, or medium quality?

         16                 MR. TENNEN: They might. They might.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I mean, what

         18  she described, in terms of theater, and I'll have to

         19  go with the gentleman, I mean I've never seen that

         20  in a New York City school system, so I'm interested,

         21  and I've been to about a third of the schools, or a

         22  quarter of the schools, but even her description of

         23  the visual arts for a second grade class, I

         24  represent District 2, which is, you know, considered

         25  one of the most successful, I don't think that is
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          2  going on in most district 2 schools. So, I was

          3  wondering whether there is a correlation.

          4                 MR. KESSLER: I think that you're

          5  looking at a correlation when it comes to the

          6  ability to leverage resources, and we've always

          7  known that the stronger -- the PTAs in more

          8  advantaged neighborhoods are able to draw greater

          9  resources above and beyond Project Arts, they have

         10  parents who are really pitching in in terms of

         11  applying for grants. And we just got a call the

         12  other day from someone, a parent who is at UBS, it

         13  turned out that they had a problem with our Parents

         14  As Arts Partners Grants, and he was calling me, and

         15  he was really lobbying for the school.

         16                 And when you take a look at that kind

         17  of internal organization, you take a look at some of

         18  the schools, they have really advanced abilities to

         19  raise funds.

         20                 I was moderating a panel at the

         21  Foundation Center three weeks ago, and we had Liz

         22  Phillips, the principal of 321K in Brooklyn, and

         23  when you listen to the abilities that that

         24  principal, that school and those parents have

         25  developed, the capacity to draw resources, and
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          2  leverage resources, that gives them a leg up against

          3  many schools who don't have the ability to access

          4  the kind of human capital.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, and

          6  presumably we believe there is some relationship

          7  between the amount of resources they have, and the

          8  quality, but does that get at the question of is it

          9  just the individual leadership style of the

         10  principal, and they can be in any neighborhood, you

         11  know, anywhere in the City, where you can have a

         12  principal in a very affluent neighborhood who just

         13  doesn't get the arts, and so there is no -- or is

         14  there an equity issue with regard to quality? That's

         15  my question.

         16                 And I'm not saying through anyone's

         17  fault, let's just be clear. I'm saying, are you

         18  going to find better quality arts education, not

         19  resources? But if Sharon Dunn went in with her

         20  vision of what the second grade is supposed to look

         21  like, with all that sophistication, where the kids

         22  know their primary colors and are able to discuss

         23  their artwork and have some art historical context

         24  for it, are you only going to find that in schools?

         25                 MR. KESSLER: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So there isn't

          3  an equity issue --

          4                 MR. KESSLER: No, it doesn't correlate

          5  in that kind of way.

          6                 It may in the aggregate. It may if

          7  you -- you know, it's possible that if you were to

          8  crunch the numbers in some way, you might find on

          9  some sort of average. But I think what happens

         10  again, if you really go school-by-school, and look

         11  at the leadership in a school that would in fact be

         12  in a pretty touch socioeconomic location, and that

         13  leadership is one that supports arts education, you

         14  see the most exemplary learning.

         15                 Again, they may not have the PTA that

         16  is able to draw the same kinds of resources --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, resources

         18  aside.

         19                 MR. KESSLER: But they may have hired

         20  faculty, may have the arts as a priority, and we see

         21  this, we see this all throughout the system. It

         22  really is, it's scattershot and where the principal

         23  is and where the principal isn't, or other

         24  distributive leadership models which also reside,

         25  it's not always just the principal.
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          2                 But, again, as I said in the very

          3  beginning of my testimony, you'll never find a

          4  school where the principal believes in the arts

          5  where the arts aren't flourishing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, I don't

          7  know about that.

          8                 I mean, you can believe in the arts

          9  and have a rhetoric --

         10                 MR. KESSLER: If they truly believe in

         11  the value, what we've seen is time and time again,

         12  as I said, in the worst of times that these

         13  principals have found ways to do it. They know what

         14  it does for their students. They know the difference

         15  it makes for their children, and they find ways to

         16  make this happen.

         17                 The once who give it lip service,

         18  that's a whole another thing. But the ones who truly

         19  believe in its value have always found ways to make

         20  this happen. And it does give you a hint into some

         21  sort of the pressure points or maybe tipping points

         22  of where change has to occur.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Does anyone

         24  have a different opinion in terms of quality and

         25  access?
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          2                 MS. JORY: I don't know enough about

          3  programs throughout the City to really comment on

          4  that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But it would

          6  seem that you would have to start with a school

          7  environment that, you know, wasn't subject to

          8  disrupt behavior, and a school environment that

          9  wasn't subject to violence and wasn't subject to

         10  high teacher turnover, and even to get to the stuff

         11  described in here, it sounds pretty ambitious, given

         12  you walk into your average school cafeteria and what

         13  you see going on, it seems like there's a gap. And

         14  so I would venture to guess that it's only schools

         15  that have been able to sort of conquer, as it were,

         16  all of the other problems associated with schools

         17  that are going to get to do it at this kind of

         18  level, it just seems like such a high level.

         19                 MS. JORY: I would agree with that to

         20  a point. Although I would also argue that there

         21  schools that effectively use arts education, to

         22  conquer some of those issues.

         23                 I believe that our focus on the arts

         24  at Bronx Charter School for the Arts has been the

         25  foundation for our school culture, which is not like
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          2  you described, and that the arts themselves have

          3  played a very important role in establishing that

          4  culture, and I think that the arts can be a catalyst

          5  for change, not only in individual students, but

          6  also in the life of the school.

          7                 So, I think that there are examples

          8  of schools that have effectively sort of harnessed

          9  that particular power of the arts to address some of

         10  the issues you're talking about.

         11                 MR. TENNEN: I agree.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: One last

         13  question on the materials. Do any of you have an

         14  opinion on what we need, what is the dollar figure

         15  in terms of the minimum quality?

         16                 I mean, let me start with you,

         17  Xanthe. How much do you spend per kid on art

         18  materials? And how does it compare to the $14.50

         19  that the public schools are spending? Traditional

         20  public schools.

         21                 MS. JORY: I actually don't know off

         22  the top of my head what the materials breakdown is.

         23  However, I can tell you that we spend close to

         24  $1,500 a kid on arts education in general. That

         25  includes salaries for our arts specialists, that

                                                            148

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  includes partnerships, that includes materials

          3  assessment, the salary of our arts director, and

          4  that does not include capital costs such as

          5  facilities, related arts expenses or musical

          6  instruments.

          7                 I think that there is a baseline of

          8  materials that are really important, and I think

          9  that musical instruments are in particular very

         10  important because they're really expensive. And I

         11  think, though, that --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I just bought

         13  my son a guitar. Expensive instrument.

         14                 MS. JORY: And we have also discovered

         15  that if you buy a cheap instrument, and they break

         16  in a year, you have a buy a whole new set.

         17                 So, I think that materials, to us

         18  materials probably are not the most important piece

         19  of arts budget.

         20                 I think that we have seen that our

         21  teachers are able to be really creative in using

         22  inexpensive materials that are, you know, acquired

         23  in some way, sometimes bought, sometimes donated,

         24  sometimes found, sometimes brought in from home by

         25  parents.
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          2                 So, materials costs, to us they've

          3  never been really the focus of our questions about

          4  money.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Anyone else?

          6                 MR. KESSLER: I think that, you know,

          7  when you take a look at the Project Arts allocations

          8  and see what's allocated per school, it's not a

          9  meager amount. I think it could be more, I think it

         10  should be more, I think that there are certain areas

         11  that it's not being -- especially if the schools

         12  use, as they can, 50 percent of their Project Arts

         13  money in a transitional period to hire a line

         14  teacher in the arts, the Project Arts money starts

         15  to decline.

         16                 But I would still say, I think more

         17  has to be done in this area to no question, but I

         18  think we're still looking at an issue, again, I

         19  think it's getting towards maybe what you've been

         20  pushing at, and just recently what you were saying

         21  in terms of what schools were able to do. I think

         22  we're still looking at an issue, and this is a

         23  national issue, when you look at the effect of No

         24  Child Left Behind, when you look at the push that's

         25  being made in reading and math, and will I
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          2  understand be made in science now, when you take a

          3  look at the kind of skill and drill, or kill and

          4  drill, what some people call it, when you look at

          5  the ways in which school leaders are evaluated, what

          6  you're going to find is that where the arts lie in

          7  that list of priorities, is in a very obscure place.

          8                 And, so, I tend to think a little bit

          9  less. Yes, musical instruments are expensive if

         10  you're going to buy a group of violins or if you're

         11  going to buy a group of pianos, a chorus costs less

         12  and may be tremendously effective, from one who had

         13  an incredible chorus in Junior High School in '80 in

         14  Queens. There may be other types of percussion

         15  instruments that can be used. I think there's a

         16  tremendous amount of fluidity, depending on how a

         17  school creates and deploys it's arts education

         18  program.

         19                 I still the greater issue is not -- I

         20  think more money might come with a greater priority,

         21  so I tend not to look at the allocation of money.

         22  Look if Project Arts wasn't there, it would be one

         23  thing, but when I look at the amount of money that

         24  goes from Project Arts to each school, I look a

         25  little bit less about the particular resource, and I

                                                            151

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  look a little bit more about the issue of priority

          3  overall. And then again, this is not just limited to

          4  New York, but this is a national issue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I mean, I hear

          6  that point. The problem is that, you know, in the

          7  third fiscal crisis, do you have an erosion there

          8  because that's the easiest thing to cut.

          9                 Let me move to the issue of

         10  assessment. And how does one do that intelligently?

         11  Why don't we start with you, Xanthe, since you're at

         12  least at a sort of school level doing that

         13  presumably on a regular basis.

         14                 MS. JORY: Yes.

         15                 I guess I would start by saying this

         16  is a question that sort of the field of arts

         17  education has been considering for a very, very long

         18  time, and it's a very difficult --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: A 30-word

         20  answer is not really going to cut it.

         21                 MS. JORY: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Got it.

         23                 MS. JORY: There is no sort of

         24  definitive well this is how you're supposed to do

         25  it.
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          2                 At our school we rely on our

          3  benchmarks, and they're similar to the blueprint. We

          4  actually developed our benchmarks prior to the

          5  blueprint. We have revised them a little bit based

          6  on the blueprint. And each child is assessed based

          7  on their ability to meet each benchmark, and that

          8  assessment is primarily done by our four art

          9  specialists. We have an art specialist in each of

         10  the arts, which makes that a lot easier. If you

         11  don't have an art specialist in each of the arts, I

         12  think that becomes a very difficult task. And they

         13  use a variety of assessment tools in the classroom,

         14  including rubrics. We're starting to do some

         15  portfolio work, and other performance-based

         16  assessments.

         17                 They occasionally give tests, if the

         18  material and content that they're teaching at that

         19  time is appropriate to that assessment format. And

         20  then they aggregate those scores into scores for

         21  individual children and our report, school report

         22  cards actually have each benchmark in the arts so

         23  it's like 15 benchmarks in each of the art forms, so

         24  our report card is like 12 pages long.

         25                 So, that's how we sort of assess --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Could the

          3  Committee get a copy of your report card, and also

          4  some of your assessment material so that we can get

          5  -- I mean, obviously some of it is probably -- the

          6  teacher is standing there looking, but if there's

          7  anything that's not, it would be helpful, because

          8  it's really hard for me to wrap my mind around what

          9  you might be talking about.

         10                 MS. JORY: Sure, I can definitely

         11  provide that.

         12                 I think one thing that makes arts

         13  assessment difficult, as well, is that, you know,

         14  even though this is kind of an ongoing, I think will

         15  forever be an ongoing project at our school, you

         16  know, refining and further refining our assessment

         17  systems in very subject, it's very, in a lot of ways

         18  very particular to our school. And, so, while we

         19  certainly could share aspects of it and share our

         20  process with other schools, we still don't come out

         21  with a number for every kind that we can then

         22  compare to a number that another school has come up

         23  with for their kid and say, well, gosh, 80 percent

         24  of our kids are achieving in dance, and only 70

         25  percent, therefore, were doing better in dance in
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          2  that school.

          3                 So, you know, these aren't

          4  standardized assessments, and that is I think one

          5  thing that makes the assessment of the overall

          6  system difficult.

          7                 I'll stop there.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you have

          9  anything to add on what committee should be, you

         10  know, what an assessment, what it would look like,

         11  and whether we should have it, and whether it's

         12  Xanthe's model or some other model?

         13                 MR. TENNEN: At Arts Connection we

         14  assess the work residency by residency. We build

         15  into each residency time to plan and when we talk

         16  about it, our unit of work, we work with grades,

         17  that we work with a whole grade, an artist, and the

         18  three or four or five teachers on the grade. We're

         19  the facilitators, so there's a planning process, a

         20  facilitated planning process to talk about what is

         21  going to happen during the course of the residency

         22  and in which we set up goals, goals for the

         23  children, goals for the teachers, goals for the

         24  artist, so that everybody knows what they're working

         25  for during that residency.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, does this

          3  look like an IEP for the arts? Are you familiar with

          4  the special ed nomenclature, an individual education

          5  plan where it's the only context that I know of that

          6  is standardized where the kid gets -- I mean, it's

          7  terribly flawed in all sorts of ways, but it's the

          8  only context in the New York City public school that

          9  I know of, where the kid is given, the kid and the

         10  parent are given in advance what the goals are.

         11                 MR. TENNEN: In that sense.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And it's got

         13  different categories.

         14                 MR. TENNEN: In that sense. But it's

         15  very individual to each artist and each residency.

         16                 Over the course of the residency,

         17  every three weeks we have a reflection and we bring

         18  the whole group back together again, again with a

         19  facilitator. We look at where we are vis-a-vis those

         20  individual goals. We look at what's worked, we look

         21  at what hasn't worked, we look at what the teachers

         22  are doing individually in their own classrooms,

         23  based on what's going on, what's happening with the

         24  artist.

         25                 Obviously, going to get into time
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          2  factor.  In the second or third year that teachers

          3  are a part of that process in working with our

          4  artists, obviously they're better equipped to be

          5  able to use those goals to make those connections,

          6  but it's a very individual process.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Could the

          8  Committee see some description of these goals? Is

          9  that written down?

         10                 MR. TENNEN: I can give you minutes of

         11  those meetings.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good. Just to

         13  get an example of what you're talking about.

         14                 Richard, did you have anything to --

         15                 MR. KESSLER: Yes. We have very

         16  similar types of assessments at the center, in terms

         17  of the efficacy of the program, trying to understand

         18  overall learning, trying to understand change that

         19  transpires in the schools.

         20                 I do think that some of what perhaps

         21  may create some easiness about this whole topic is

         22  the fact that over the last years, arts education

         23  itself has changed so dramatically. Look, if you

         24  just had a band class in a, you know, middle school,

         25  or a chorus in the middle schools, or you just had
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          2  an art class in the way that we used to have them in

          3  the sixties and seventies. You know, every one of

          4  those classes, I had a grade when I was in course, I

          5  got graded for it, I got graded for band when I was

          6  in high school, I got graded for art, you know, it

          7  was done, they had figured it out.

          8                 In the period of time from the cuts

          9  of the late seventies to now, arts education, it's

         10  almost like it sort of exploded, it exploded in the

         11  multitudes and the myriads of approaches. And a lot

         12  of it occurred that way because we lost so many of

         13  the school-based educators, that you had all these

         14  different programs in partnership taking different

         15  approaches, and the ways of assessing this became

         16  very complicated. I think that that's part of the

         17  rationale for the blueprint, was because in taking

         18  the look at the wild divergence of approaches,

         19  whether it was skill, based in skills acquisition or

         20  whether it was aesthetic learning or whether it was

         21  across the curriculum. So, I think what happens is

         22  you started to look at an issue where, yes, you had

         23  tremendous fluidity and assessment and it could be

         24  done.

         25                 But going towards something that is a
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          2  systemic type or systemwide or even school-based

          3  assessment from school-to-school, with some sort of

          4  comparison, is very difficult to do, I think,

          5  without the container of the blueprints.

          6                 Will the blueprint shift instruction

          7  in such a way that it will become easier to assess?

          8  That remains to be seen. But I was trying to get to

          9  what I think may be the roots of some of your

         10  questions about this, why is it so difficult to

         11  assess it, and I think it has to do with the

         12  tremendous fluidity from approach to approach.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, I don't

         14  doubt that it's difficult to assess, it's like

         15  impossible to assess. It seems like you have to, you

         16  know it when you're looking at it more, and someone

         17  has got to actually spend a lot of time to look at

         18  the teaching, and to look at the kids, you know, it

         19  seems much easier to have some sense of, you know,

         20  looking at a science exam.

         21                 MR. KESSLER: I think with traditional

         22  programs, you know, if you go to Tottenville High

         23  School, you'll see the kids are getting grades, they

         24  have a tremendous music program. I think a lot of it

         25  has to do with whether the approach is a more
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          2  traditional approach, or whether the approach is

          3  something that has greater fluidity. Does it require

          4  a portfolio? Can it be done with a grade? I think it

          5  has a lot to do with the sort of fluidity of the

          6  ways that arts education has changed, and in fact,

          7  the ways in which the arts have changed.

          8                 If you just consider for a second

          9  even the ways in which music is changed, and we

         10  don't have record companies in quite the way we used

         11  to, more kids are, you know, you're downloading

         12  music rather than getting at the record store. In

         13  fact, kids are creating music with computers. They

         14  don't even need instruments. They don't even need

         15  music teachers. You can use garage band and do it at

         16  your own home.

         17                 If you take a look at the ways in

         18  which the field of the arts have changed, and the

         19  impact that also has on what is considered to be

         20  traditional modes of instruction, it creates some

         21  tremendous challenges, unless the program is what I

         22  would call really traditional sort of mainline,

         23  let's have kids in a chorus, we can give them a

         24  traditional grade. If it's something that's

         25  involving a multiple organization, if it's something
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          2  that may or may not have an arts specialist, if it's

          3  something that reaches across the curriculum, it

          4  becomes I think significantly more complicated.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, I don't

          6  doubt that. But if we're going to be more ambitious

          7  and not have a traditional way of doing things,

          8  either because the world has changed or we believe

          9  that in the past we had more narrow definition, then

         10  we have to figure out a way, and I don't care

         11  whether it's quantitative or qualitative or some

         12  combination or only qualitative, but we've got to

         13  know whether we're doing it well or lousy, and we

         14  owe it to parents of the New York City school system

         15  to tell them whether the experts think we're doing

         16  it well or lousy, and I think we also owe it to

         17  parents to have a way for them to get involved in

         18  this conversation. And that's another thing that I'm

         19  very troubled, how are parents supposed to be able

         20  to assess what's the connection between this?

         21                 I mean, when I went to PTA night and

         22  it's always dangerous to use yourself, particularly

         23  if you're the Chair of the Education Committee,

         24  because people will get phone calls, there was no

         25  discussion of arts education. There was discussion
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          2  of goals in social studies, in literacy and math.

          3  There were no goals in art. It wasn't part of the --

          4  so, how are parents going to be let in on the secret

          5  of the blueprint? And this is not parent friendly,

          6  right? Couldn't you conceive this is not

          7  particularly parent -- you have to sort of, I won't

          8  say you have to have a PhD in art history, but

          9  you're sort of expecting people. Do we have any

         10  vision here in New York City about how parents are

         11  going to participate in that conversation?

         12                 I think that there is an intuitive

         13  sense that parents of all socioeconomic backgrounds

         14  have, that their kids are engaged by art. It doesn't

         15  take a rocket scientist to figure that out, as kids

         16  we start drumming, or they'll make visual

         17  observations, that they'll engage in all this

         18  behavior where we know that they're interested in

         19  it, and when we see them, we could tell more so

         20  often in literacy and math, that that's what they

         21  like about school. It's the engagement that arts

         22  provide.

         23                 So, how are parents going to

         24  participate in this?

         25                 MS. JORY: I agree with everything you
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          2  just said. I think it's extraordinarily important

          3  for parents to understand what their kids are

          4  learning in the arts, and also the role that the

          5  arts play in the overall vision, educational vision

          6  of the school.

          7                 I think it's the responsibility of

          8  the school leader to figure out what's going to work

          9  best with his or her parent population, and that

         10  ideally that would be the arts team of that school

         11  determining how are we going to share our work with

         12  parents.

         13                 So, you know, in your example of

         14  curriculum night, I think the arts teacher should

         15  have had a role in that evening or whatever format

         16  it was that was determined to be the best format for

         17  your school.

         18                 In our school we do have curriculum

         19  night every, you know, October, and that, in our

         20  school, begins with a welcome that is done by the

         21  art specialist in our school, contain samples of

         22  student work, an overview of the curriculum for the

         23  year, and that's, you know, what we determine over

         24  the past three years, whatever works best for us.

         25                 But I think that the school leader
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          2  needs to work to, and probably in most schools it

          3  would be in conjunction with the parent coordinator

          4  needs to determine how that's going to work.

          5                 And I think it should be not just,

          6  you know, an enhancement but a responsibility of the

          7  school leader to do that.

          8                 MR. TENNEN: I think the parent

          9  coordinator is going to be key to making that

         10  happen. I think their knowledge of what's going on

         11  in the school and what's working, and their being

         12  able to have conversations with parents about that

         13  is going to be very important.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That's a

         15  little discouraging because we seem so far from that

         16  point. I mean, that seems like you're talking about

         17  20 years maybe.

         18                 MR. KESSLER: There's so much change

         19  in the landscape of parents since the Bloomberg

         20  Administration, and it's also in flux.

         21                 We just made grants to 150 schools to

         22  a program called Parents as arts partners that we

         23  run, with some, again, it's a partnership program

         24  and it places schools together with cultural

         25  organizations, and it creates cooperative learning
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          2  programs for parents and their children together.

          3                 For us it's a start, it's not an end.

          4  In listening to you, I have to be honest, I sit here

          5  thinking that we have to take it, I think the arts

          6  education community has to take it to the next level

          7  in reaching out to parents, in helping to inform, in

          8  helping to educate, in helping to organize them. I

          9  think there is a lot of work to be done here and I

         10  do think the community is behind the curve on this.

         11                 MS. JORY: I'm sorry, this is

         12  something I feel very strongly about, so I just want

         13  to add one more thing.

         14                 I think that typically in parent

         15  teacher night, or meet your teacher night, really

         16  arts teachers are not expected to necessarily even

         17  be there. You know, they get very few visitors,

         18  parents are not encouraged to go and meet them.

         19  That's also something that really needs to change,

         20  and that is also the responsibility of the school

         21  leader, in order to communicate those expectations

         22  to those teachers that, you know, just as the

         23  classroom teacher or the science teacher is a

         24  critical piece of this child's educational, you

         25  know, whole, you are too, and you need to reach out
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          2  to parents in the same way the classroom teacher is

          3  expected to do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It would also

          5  be helpful, frankly, for parents to know that, you

          6  know, it would be helpful, you get more guidance in

          7  math and literacy in terms of what books you should

          8  read to your child, you know, we're unique in New

          9  York and having all this theater, if someone would

         10  give us a little more help in terms of, and I take

         11  -- I'm fortunate in that I have the resources. I

         12  take my child to the theater and so forth, but if I

         13  had a better understanding of what I was supposed to

         14  do, whether it's concerts, and could I align my trip

         15  to the concerts with something they're doing in

         16  class, but I don't have any idea. I barely have it

         17  in math and reading, but I have a semblance of a

         18  notion, it just seems there's a vacuum there that I

         19  think we would find parents get it. They get that

         20  this stuff is important to their kids, important in

         21  ways, you know, that they see it as a lifelong, I

         22  mean beyond the doing well in school and the

         23  research, they see it as sort of a lifelong love

         24  that if you can get your kid interested in the

         25  theater or concerts, that's going to last with them
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          2  way beyond K through 12. And yet, we're not really

          3  given any guidance as to how do we better our

          4  children and expose them to different things, and it

          5  would be helpful.

          6                 MS. JORY: I think we found also that

          7  it's a good way, a really good entry point for

          8  parents to participate in the life of the school.

          9                 So, parents who may not speak English

         10  or who may not feel wholly confident in some of the

         11  traditional subject areas can come and attend a

         12  performance at the school or help out at a

         13  performance or go on a field trip. All of our

         14  partnerships that we plan now have to involve some

         15  kind of parent education component, so a parent can

         16  come to a workshop. So, it's a way to invite parents

         17  into the school building, which has been really

         18  important for us.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We are

         20  unfortunately out of time and there is a major

         21  hearing in this Committee Room, Housing and

         22  Buildings, and I've promised the Chair that I will

         23  be out of here.

         24                 So, we will be taking anyone who

         25  didn't get a chance to testify who wants, if you can
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          2  submit your testimony in writing, I assure you that

          3  I and members of the Committee will look at it.

          4                 I want to thank our panelists for

          5  their very eloquent and knowledgeable words on this

          6  subject.

          7                 The reason we have had so many

          8  hearings on this is because we believe that this is

          9  absolutely critical to our children. And we thank

         10  you for your time and input. Thank you very much.

         11                 MS. JORY: Thank you.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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